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Corporate
Profile

A leading specialist provider of commercial and
industrial door and shutter solutions in Singapore
and the South East Asia region.

With an operating history since 1982, GDS Global Limited (the “Company” or “GDS” and together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a leading specialist provider of commercial and industrial door
and shutter solutions in Singapore and the South East Asia region.

Backed by its strong technical expertise, proprietary know-how and technology-based solutions,
the Group's extensive range of door and shutter systems can be tailored to the specific needs
and requirements of its customers. The Group’s products include door systems, fire-rated shutter
systems and doors for special applications which are widely used across a broad spectrum of
industries such as manufacturing, retail, food processing, hospitality, health, education, aerospace,
security and defence.

Underscoring its technology-driven edge, GDS is the first Singapore manufacturer which can offer
steel insulated fire shutters with an insulation value of up to 240 minutes. The Group also provides
service and maintenance works for the products supplied or installed by the Group or third parties,
and sale of production components.

GDS is headquartered in Singapore where it operates one of the largest manufacturing facilities
amongst industry players, spanning an area of approximately 7,797 square metres.

In 2013, GDS became a public-listed company on the Catalist board of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (Stock code: 5VP).

Please visit www.gdsglobal.com.sg for more information.
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Business
Overview

DOOR SYSTEMS

We manufacture and supply an extensive range of door and shutter systems that can be tailored to our
customers’ specific needs and requirements. These systems, which comprise our own proprietary products
as well as third party products, include:

BLAST SHUTTER

+ Blast Mitigating Shutter
+ Blast Resistant Shutter

COMMERCIAL DOOR SYSTEMS

+ Alfresco Steel Roller Shutters

+ Continuous Sheet Roller Door

* Crystal Aluminium Shutters

* CrystalClear Transparent Shutter
* Premium Aluminium Roller Grille
+ Security Shutters

* Butzbach Glass Stacking Door

FIRE-RATED SHUTTER SYSTEMS

We manufacture and supply a range of proprietary fire-rated shutter systems, that serve as effective barriers
against fire in the event of a fire, while doubling as security shutters during normal circumstances. Our fire-
rated shutter systems are tested against a set of stringent criteria set by various regulatory authorities in
recognised test laboratories and accorded a performance rating for fire insulation and integrity. Our range
of fire-rated shutter systems includes:

* Non-insulated Fire Shutter

* Thermal-insulated Fire Shutter
* Fire-insulated Roller Shutter

* Fire-insulated Panel Shutter

GARAGE DOOR SYSTEMS

+ Various types of garage door
systems such as sectional
garage doors, roller doors
and Renlita tilt-up doors,
for use in private homes.
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Business
Overview

HANGAR DOOR SYSTEMS

* Butzbach Sliding Hangar Door
 Gliderol GIANT Series Hangar Door

LAY

INDUSTRIAL DOOR SYSTEMS

« Continuous Sheet Roller Door

+ Heavy Duty Roller Shutter

+ Insulated Roller Shutter

* GIANT Series Extra-large Roller
Shutters

* Louvred Roller Shutters

+ High Security Roller Shutter

+ Sectional Overhead Door

* Renlita Bi-folding Door

* Butzbach Stacking Door

STORM SHUTTER

+ High Wind Pressure-Resistant
Shutter

SPECIAL APPLICATIONS

* Butzbach NOVOSPRINT High
Speed Traffic Door

* Gliderol Swift High Speed Roll-up
Traffic Door

* Gliderol Horizontally Coiling Hatch

* Gliderol Fall Arrestor

* Won-Door DuraSound Acoustic
Accordion Door

* Won-Door FireGuard Fire-rated
Accordion Door

NON- DOOR SYSTEMS

Through its majority-owned subsidiary, Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd., the Group also trades and designs
production components that include engineering and machinery tools, hardware, industrial metal parts
and fixtures.

SERVICE AND MAINTENANCE WORKS

Our maintenance services are offered on a renewable fixed term service contract basis and on an ad hoc
basis. We have identified these services as a potential growth area that can provide a source of recurring
income for us.

+ Preventive and general maintenance
+ Repair, replacement and overhaul of faulty components
+ Safety checks
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Chairman’s Message
to Shareholders

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of GDS Global
Limited (“GDS” or the “Group”), | am pleased to
present to you our annual report for the financial
year ended 30 September 2023 (“FY2023").

With the COVID-19 pandemic in the rear mirror,
the construction industry - to which our business
is closely aligned - has been gradually improving
in FY2023. However, the pace of recovery had not
kept up with the increase in raw materials, freight
and energy costs arising from the Russia-Ukraine
conflict, as well as other geopolitical and supply
chain issues. As a result, our performance during
the year was impacted.

For FY2023, revenuedeclined 10.7%to S$12.2 million,
from S$13.7 million in the previous financial year
(“FY2022"), mainly from our trading of production
components business where buying sentiment of
our Euro zone customers was partially dampened
by the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Loss attributable
to shareholders widened 10.1% to S$2.3 million in
FY2023, from S$2.1 million in FY2022.

Still, our balance sheet remained robust. GDS
recorded no borrowings, debt securities and any
related collateral as at 30 September 2023. Cash
and cash equivalents stood at S$5.9 million as at 30
September 2023, compared to S$7.2 million as at 30
September 2022.

4 GDS GLOBAL LIMITED

Michael Wong
Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman

FY2023 was also a year of transition for GDS as the
Group revitalised its leadership team and embarked
on a new multi-pronged strategy to turn its loss-
making business around.

LEADERSHIP REVITALISATION

As part of GDS's succession planning, | relinquished
my role as Chief Executive Officer and was
redesignated as Non-Executive Non-Independent
Chairman on 16 November 2023. | also ceased to be
a member of the Nominating Committee effective
from 15 November 2023. Taking on a backseat
role has allowed me to focus on my health, while
continuing to provide guidance to GDS at the
strategic level.

As part of the Board renewal process, Mr Wu
Chiaw Ching, Mr Tan Soon Liang and Ms Pebble
Sia Huei-Chieh collectively retired as Independent
Non-Executive Directors on 14 November 2023.
With this, Mr Aw Eng Hai, Mr Howard Cheam Heng
How and Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng were appointed
as Independent Non-Executive Directors of GDS
on 25 October 2023, bringing with them notable
experience in the fields of accounting, law and
corporate strategy respectively.

We further reinforced our Board line-up with the
appointmentof MrTang Hee SungasaNon-Executive



Non-Independent Director on 29 November 2023
and the promotion of Ms Gina Lee Pei Fang to
Executive Director on 1 November 2023. Hee Sung
has a noteworthy track record in the local building
and construction industry, and | am excited to see
how his experience and network can open new doors
of opportunities for GDS. As a major shareholder
of GDS, his interests are also well-aligned with the
Group's. Meanwhile, Gina will take charge of the
Group's day-to-day business operations, business
expansion and strategic business direction. She has
been with GDS for over 30 years and will provide
continuity as the new team takes helm.

In addition, we injected new blood into the senior
management team with the appointment of Mr
Kenny Zhang as Chief Operating Officer (“COQ")
on 2 January 2024 and Ms Goh Joo San as Chief
Financial Officer on 29 September 2023. As COO,
Kenny is responsible for formulating the Group's
strategic direction and expansion plans whilst
also overseeing the development of its overseas
marketing, operational efficiency and budgetary
controls. Joo San has taken over the financial
responsibilities of Ms Lim Lay Khim, who resigned
as Financial Controller of GDS on 27 July 2023.

From a four-member Board, our Board now
comprises six members, half of whom are
independent and all of whom are highly experienced
in their respective fields. The role of COO is also new
to the Group. Collectively, the steps we have taken
to restructure our team signal our commitment to
position the Group for a recovery and ensure long-
term business sustainability.

THREE-PRONGED STRATEGY FOR RECOVERY

Going forward, the outlook is expected to remain
challenging for the Group as the global economy
continues to face risks arising from sticky inflation as

well as the possibility of renewed supply disruptions

Chairman’s Message
to Shareholders

and commodity price shocks due to the conflicts in
Europe and the Middle East. These factors could
weigh on both business and consumer sentiments
along with demand, leading to a slowdown in
global growth and trade. Against this backdrop and
barring the materialisation of downside risks, our
government expects the Singapore economy to
grow by 1.0% to 3.0% in 20241,

Under the new leadership team, GDS aims
to be nimbler and more aggressive in seizing
opportunities via a three-pronged strategy focused
on product innovation, revenue expansion, and cost
management.

Firstly, our fourth generation insulated Fire Roller
Shutters (“IFS-4G"), the successor to the second
generation insulated Fire Roller Shutters (“IFS-2G")
is ready to be commercialised after it successfully
completed the prescribed fire tests over a duration
of up to 4 hrs. The IFS-4G is designed to act as a
reliable fire barrier without turning red-hot even
when exposed to the full force of the flames. This
eliminates the possibility of the shutter curtain
radiating heat and igniting combustible materials
that may be stored on the other side of the shutter,
thus preventing the onward spread of the fire. But
unlike the IFS-2G, the IFS-4G is more cost effective
and efficient to produce. The IFS-4G is also more
easily serviced and maintained with the same
labour resources. We believe the IFS-4G will be a
new engine of growth for us as we actively roll this
innovative product out to the market.

Secondly, to enhance top line growth, the Group
plans to actively pursue more projects in Singapore’s
industrial and commercial doors and shutter
industry, instead of being as selective as we had
been in the past due to the more conservative credit
risk approach adopted previously. These contracts,
of course, must still reflect strong creditworthiness
and stability of customers, which will ensure that

! Ministry of Trade and Industry, 22 November 2023
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Chairman’s Message
to Shareholders

our collections remain progressive and healthy,
while minimising payment risks. We also intend
to grow our recurring income source from service
and maintenance works rendered to industrial
clients. This includes shutter systems and doors
manufactured by others, not just GDS. Subject to
how demand pans out, we may expand the number
of services and maintenance teams.

GDS also plans to ramp up its export strategy in
Southeast and North Asia covering markets such as
Malaysia, Vietnam, Hong Kong and Taiwan. To this
end, we will deepen our relationships with existing
distributors to increase the sale of our products
in these markets whilst also look for partnership
opportunities with more distributors. Concurrently,
we intend to market our Storm Shutters on an
original equipment manufacturer basis assisted by
our e-commerce platform, under Homegardd Pte.
Ltd., which would free us from the limitations of an
exclusive distributorship model.

Lastly, we will explore new avenues to minimise
costs and improve efficiency in our supply chain and
procurement practices. This would entail, among
others, looking for ways to leverage economies of
scale and realise synergies.

Alongside these plans, we continue to invest in our
employees by conducting training and upskilling
sessions in FY2023. This is to ensure that our

employees are equipped with the latest know-how
and remain up to date with recent industry trends.

APPRECIATION

As we undergo this exciting transition period,
| welcome the new directors of the Board and
management team to the GDS family. | trust that
the collective experience and wisdom of our new
leadership team will place the Group on a stronger
footing and enable GDS to scale greater heights.

| also extend my deepest gratitude to Chiaw Ching,
Pebble, Soon Liang and Lay Khim for your counsel
and support. Your invaluable contributions all these
years will be sorely missed, and | wish you the best
in all future endeavours.

To our customers, partners and suppliers, | assure
you that GDS will remain supportive and cooperative
so that we can achieve success together. To our
shareholders, the new leadership team and |
reiterate our commitment to deliver value to you.

Yours sincerely,

MICHAEL WONG
Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman

.
SRR T
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Income Statement (S$°000)

FY2023

Financial
Highlights

(Financial Year Ended 30 September)

FY2022 FY2021

Revenue 12,203 13,664 12,991
Gross profit 3,387 4,017 3,921
Net (loss) (2,118) (1,675) (1,604)
Gross profit margin (%) 27.8 29.4 30.2
Net (loss) margin (%) (17.4) (12.3) (12.3)

Balance Sheet (S$'000)

Total assets 19,152 23,340 26,483
Total liabilities 9,327 11,177 12,323
Total equity 9,825 12,163 14,160
Cash and cash equivalents 5,876 7177 8,775

Cash Flows (S$°'000)

Operating cash flows

597

(29) 1,018

Capital expenditure

(181)

(154) (137)

Per Share Information (Singapore cents)

(Loss) per share

(2.09)

(1.90) (1.71)

Net asset value per share

Market Capitalisation (S$'000)"

10.99

T Based on GDS's closing share price as at the end of respective financial years
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Operations and
Financial Review

REVENUE

Despite the recovery of Singapore’'s construction
industry from the Covid-19 pandemic, progress atthe
Group's work sites remained slower than expected.
Meanwhile overall increases in raw materials,
freight and energy costs arising from the Russia-
Ukraine conflict, other geopolitical and supply chain
issues continue to outpace this recovery. Against
this landscape, the Group recorded a revenue
of S$12.20 million for the financial year ended 30
September 2023 (“FY2023"), a decrease of S$1.46
million or 10.7% as compared to S$13.66 million
for the previous financial year ended 30 September
2022 ("FY2022").

Whilst contribution from the sale of door and
shutter systems and from the provision of service
and maintenance work improved by S$0.08 million
or 1.8% to S$4.42 million and by S$0.64 million or
23.7% to S$3.37 million respectively in FY2023,
the trading of production components segment
declined. Revenue from this segment decreased
by S$2.18 million or 33.1% to S$4.41 million as the
Russian-Ukraine conflict dampened demand from
our Euro zone customers.

In terms of geographical spread, Singapore
accounted for S$7.08 million or 58.0% of the Group's
total revenue while overseas markets took up the
balance. Except for Singapore, where revenue rose
by S$1.72 million or 32.1% year-on-year, revenue
from all other markets trended down in FY2023.

Europe, which contributed S$3.37 million or 27.6%
of FY2023's revenue, was the second largest market
for the Group. Revenue from Europe fell by S$2.2
million or 39.5% year-on-year due to the impact
of the geopolitical conflict in Russia. Meanwhile,
revenue from Asia Pacific, the Group’s third largest

AW, 1w
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REVIEW ON INCOME STATEMENTS

market, declined by S$0.90 million or 39.0% to
S$1.40 million in FY2023. Other markets comprised
countries in North America and the Middle East and
East Asia.

GROSS PROFIT

The Group’s gross profit decreased by S$$0.63
million or 15.7% from S$4.02 million in FY2022 to
S$3.39 million in FY2023 while gross profit margin
decreased from 29.4% in FY2022 t0 27.8% in FY2023.
The lower margin was mainly due to lower sales in
manufactured products and trading of production
components, which typically generate better
margins for the Group.

COST AND EXPENSES

Corresponding with the lower revenue recorded
during the year, cost of sales decreased by S$0.83
million or 8.6% from S$$9.65 million in FY2022 to
$$8.82 million in FY2023.

The Group continued to keep tight control over its
overheads during the year amid rising raw material
and freight and energy costs. As a result, total costs
and expenses was trimmed by $$0.29 million or 4.9%
from S$5.91 million in FY2022 to S$5.62 million in
FY2023. Of this, marketing and distribution expenses
decreased by S$0.11 million or 25.6% from S$0.43
million in FY2022 to S$0.32 million in FY2023 mainly
due to decrease in freight charges and offset by an
increase in local logistics transport services such
as lorries and cranes. Other operating expenses
decreased by S$0.19 million or 34.9% from S$0.53
million in FY2022 to S$0.35 million in FY2023 largely
from a decrease in research and development
expenses of S$0.14 million. At the same time, finance




costs, comprising interest expense arising from the
application of Leases Accounting for lease liabilities,
decreased by S$27,000 or 13.4% from S$201,000 in
FY2022 to S$174,000 in FY2023.

On the other hand, administrative expenses
increased by $$0.03 million or 0.7% from S$4.75
million in FY2022 to S$4.78 million in FY2023. The
increase was mainly due to higher professional fees,
the rental of one additional dormitory room for
workers, the onboarding of two contract staff and
partially offset by a decrease in personnel cost.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER LOSSES

The Group's other operating income decreased
by S$0.19 million or 62.1% from S$0.31 million in
FY2022 to S$0.12 million in FY2023. The decrease
was mainly due to the absence of government grants
from Enterprise Singapore to defray the testing cost
for the Group's Blast resistant / Blast mitigating
roller shutter door and reliefs relating to Covid-19
as Singapore recovered from the pandemic.

Meanwhile, other gains and losses recorded by the
Group swung from a $$90,000 gain in FY2022 to a
S$118,000 loss in FY2023 mainly due to unrealised
foreign exchange loss arising from the translation of
trade receivables and bank balances denominated
in US dollar during FY2023.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Due to a reversal of deferred tax liability, the Group
recorded an income tax credit of S$105,000 in
FY2023 compared to a tax expense of S$181,000 in
FY2022. As a result of the abovementioned factors,
the Group recorded aloss of S$2.12 millionin FY2023
as compared to loss of $$1.68 million in FY2022.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Current assets decreased by S$2.56 million from
S$$12.49 million as at 30 September 2022 to 5$9.93
million as at 30 September 2023. This was due to
a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of S$1.30
million, a decrease in contract assets of S$$0.19
million arising from lower project works certified, a
decrease in trade and other receivables of S$0.79
million due primarily to lower revenue generated
and a decrease in inventories of $$0.28 million.

Operations and
Financial Review

Non-current assets decreased by S$1.64 million
from S$10.85 million as at 30 September 2022
to S$9.22 million as at 30 September 2023 mainly
due to lower net book value in property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
arising from depreciation and amortisation charges,
which decreased by S$0.31 million, S$1.24 million
and S$0.09 million respectively.

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities decreased by $$0.39 million from
$$3.79 million as at 30 September 2022 to S$3.40
million as at 30 September 2023. This was mainly
from a decrease in contract liabilities of S$0.17
million largely comprising deposits received from
customers, a decrease in trade and other payables of
S$$0.16 million, and a decrease in income tax payable
of $S$0.11 million mainly from lower revenue from a
subsidiary. The decrease was partially offset by an
increase in lease liabilities of $S$0.04 million mainly
due to the increase in building lease payments
within the next twelve months.

Non-current liabilities decreased by S$1.46 million
from S$7.39 million as at 30 September 2022 to
S$$5.93 million as at 30 September 2023. This was
mainly from a decrease in lease liabilities of S$1.26
million as the remaining lease periods decreased
over the contractual lease term.

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Total equity was S$9.83 million as at 30 September
2023 as compared to S$12.16 million as at 30
September 2022, a decrease of $$2.34 million due
to current year losses.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Board
of Directors

MICHAEL WONG

Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman
Date of first appointment: 17 July 2012
Date of last re-election: 21 January 2022

Mr Michael Wong relinquished his role as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of
the Group and accordingly, has been redesignated as Non-Executive Non-
Independent Chairman from Executive Chairman with effect from 16 November
2023. Mr Wong also ceased to be a member of the Nominating Committee with
effect from 15 November 2023. As Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman,
Mr Wong will continue to provide guidance to the Group in its strategic and
operational objectives, but will not be involved in its day-to day management and
operations or be a part of its management. Mr Wong has more than 40 years
of experience in the commercial and industrial doors industry. He established
Gliderol Doors (S) Pte. Ltd. in 1982, and during his tenure as Chief Executive
Officer, he had been instrumental in the growth of the Group's business. Mr
Wong attended the Building Technician Diploma course in Singapore Polytechnic
from 1972 to 1973.

Present and past directorships in other listed companies: Nil

TANG HEE SUNG
Non-Executive Non-Independent Director
Date of first appointment: 29 November 2023

Mr Tang Hee Sung was appointed to our Board on 29 November 2023 and is a
member of the Nominating Committee. He brings with him extensive management
experience and a strong business network gleaned from his years working
in Singapore's building and construction industry. Presently, he is the Chief
Executive Officer of the Teambuild Land group of companies, a role he has held
since 2008. Concurrently, Mr Tang also holds directorships in other non-listed
companies in the building and construction business. He holds a Master of
Science (Management in Technology) from the National University of Singapore
and a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) from Arizona State University, USA.

Present and past directorships in other listed companies: Nil

GINA LEE PEI FANG
Executive Director
Date of first appointment: 1 November 2023

Ms Gina Lee Pei Fang, who has been with the Group for over 30 years, was
appointed as its Executive Director on 1 November 2023. As Executive Director,
she is responsible for the day-to-day business operations of the Group and
also oversees its business expansion and strategic business direction. Ms Lee
was previously a director and senior manager of the Group’s Corporate Affairs,
Human Resource and Administration departments, where she assisted the
former Chairman and CEO, Mr Michael Wong, in running the Group'’s business.
Having first joined the Group in 1991, Ms Lee has worked her way up the
management ranks, gaining in-depth knowledge and well-rounded experience
of the commercial and industrial doors industry in the process. In the course of
her career with the Group, she has held positions that included Management
Executive and Manager (Human Resource and Administration). Ms Lee obtained
a Diploma in Business Efficiency & Productivity (Personnel Management) from
the Institute for Productivity Training of the National Productivity Board of
Singapore in 1994.

Present and past directorships in other listed companies: Nil

e Due to health reasons, Mr Michael Wong stepped down as the Group’s CEO and was redesignated as Non-Executive Non-Independent
Chairman from Executive Chairman with effect from 16 November 2023. He also ceased to be a member of the Nominating Committee with
effect from 15 November 2023.

* Ms Gina Lee Pei Fang was appointed as the Group's Executive Director on 1 November 2023.
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Board

of Directors

AW ENG HAI
Lead Independent Non-Executive Director
Date of first appointment: 25 October 2023

Mr Aw Eng Hai was appointed to our Board on 25 October 2023. He chairs
the Audit Committee and is a member of the Nominating and Remuneration
Committees. Mr Aw is a public accountant and a partner of Foo Kon Tan LLP
where he heads departments providing specialist advisory services. He has over
19 years of experience providing business advisory services to companies. Prior
to joining the commercial sector, Mr Aw was an investigator in the Commercial
Affairs Department (CAD) where he was involved in complex commercial fraud
investigation. Mr Aw holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours)
from the National University of Singapore. He is also a practising member of the
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (ISCA), a Fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), a Fellow of Insolvency Practitioners
Association of Singapore (IPAS), a member of INSOL International and a member
of the Singapore Institute of Directors (SID).

Present directorships in other listed companies:
* TOTM Technologies Limited (SGX-ST)
* Tritech Group Limited (SGX-ST)

Past directorships in other listed companies:
* Capital World Limited (SGX-ST)

CHEAM HENG HAW, HOWARD
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date of first appointment: 25 October 2023

Mr Howard Cheam was appointed to our Board on 25 October 2023. He is
Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominating Committees and a member of
the Audit Committee. Mr Cheam is an equity partner at Rajah & Tann Singapore
LLP and practices in the specialised field of Capital Markets and Mergers and
Acquisitions (M&A). He has extensive background in initial public offerings,
reverse takeovers as well as both public and private M&A transactions within and
outside of Singapore. His experience includes various fund-raising exercises for
listed and unlisted companies such as the issue of bond instruments, convertible
instruments and placements. In addition, he also handles general corporate
and advisory work, such as joint ventures, trade transactions and investments.
He holds a Bachelor of Law from King's College, University of London and is a
member of the Law Society of Singapore and the Singapore Academy of Law.

Present directorships in other listed companies:
* TOTM Technologies Limited (SGX-ST)

DOREEN YEW LAI LENG
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date of first appointment: 25 October 2023

Ms Doreen Yew was appointed to our Board on 25 October 2023. She is a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominating
Committee. Ms Yew, whois a lawyer by training, is currently the Director, Business
Development at NeoAsia (S) Pte Ltd. She brings with her extensive experience
in corporate strategy and business development gleaned from a career that
spanned almost two decades in the pharmaceutical industry. She was most
recently Vice President, Business Development at Axcynsis Therapeutics Pte
Ltd. Prior to that, she was with Zuellig Pharma Asia Pacific, a leading healthcare
solutions company in Asia, from 2011 to 2018 where she last held the role of
Regional Business Development Manager. Ms Yew holds a Bachelor of Arts
(Honours) in Law and English from the University of Keele, the United Kingdom.

Present and past directorships in other listed companies: Nil

Mr Wu Chiaw Ching, Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh and Mr Tan Soon Liang, the Group's Independent Non-Executive Directors, resigned from
the Board with effect from 14 November 2023 as part of the Group’s board renewal process.

All information relating to the Directors in this section, unless otherwise mentioned, are accurate as at 15 December 2023 being the latest
practicable date for the preparation of this section.
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Senior

Management

KENNY ZHANG
Chief Operating Officer

Mr Kenny Zhang joined the Group on 2 January 2024, bringing with him over 20 years
of industry experience in the areas of business strategy, corporate governance,
project management, processes streamlining and optimisation, among others.
As a Chief Operating Officer, Mr Zhang is responsible for formulating the Group's
strategic directions and expansion plans in conjunction with other key executives.
He also oversees the development of overseas markets and manages the Group's
operational efficiency and budgetary controls.

He commenced his career in audit practices, and spent seven years at Deloitte &
Touche. Over the course of his career, he held senior financial positions in several
SGX listed companies and across diverse industries including offshore oil and gas,
property development and manufacturing.

Mr Zhang holds a Bachelor of Science in Applied Accounting from Oxford Brookes
University (UK). He was a Fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (UK) and has been a Chartered Accountant with the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountant since 2007.

GOH JOO SAN
Chief Financial Officer

Ms Goh Joo San was appointed to her current senior management role on 29
September 2023. As Chief Financial Officer, she takes charge of the Group's financial
and accounting functions which includes regulatory compliance, internal controls
and risk management, cashflow management, taxation, SGX listing obligations
compliance and investor relations. She also provides support for the Group's
business growth via the capital market and M&A activities.

Ms Goh has accumulated a wealth of experience in the finance and accounting
disciplines over the course of her extensive career. She was previously the Country
Finance Head (Singapore) of Incorp Global Pte Ltd., a leading Asia Pacific corporate
services provider from 2021 to 2022. Prior to that, she was Chief Financial Officer ata
Singapore Press Holding UK subsidiary (UK Purpose-Built Student Accommodation)
from 2019 to 2021. During her career, Ms Goh also spent seven years as Associate
Director at Stone Forest Corporate Advisory and Sirius Venture Capital Pte. Ltd. At
Stone Forest, she specialised in corporate advisory and at Sirius, she led venture
capital and entrepreneurial finance targeted at small and medium-sized companies
in Singapore.

Ms Goh holds a Master of Business Administration from University of Surrey, United
Kingdom and is a Chartered Accountant with the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants.
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Senior
Management

LEOW CHYAN
Senior Manager, Technical

Mr Leow Chyan is responsible for the design, development and systems integration
of products from conception to implementation. He identifies system deficiencies
in the technical aspects of the products’ operation and implements solutions and
revisions to them. He also manages complex projects (local and overseas) and
serves as the liaison between overseas principals and project managers. In addition,
he also ensures that products manufactured by the Group comply with the relevant
regulatory codes in various jurisdictions.

Mr Leow joined Gliderol Doors (S) Pte. Ltd. as a Marketing Executive in May 1997
and has been with the Group since. He began his career as a Police Officer with the
Singapore Police Force in 1990. From 1996 to 1997, he was a Sales Executive in Azen
Manufacturing Pte Ltd.

Mr Leow graduated from Sumbershire Business School in 1996 with an Advanced
Certificate in Marketing.

ANGELA LIN
Senior Manager, Sales and Service

Ms Angela Lin heads the Group’s Sales and Service department where she oversees
the sales and after-sales service of its door and shutter systems in the Singapore
market.

Ms Lin is an industry veteran with almost two decades of sales experience in door
and shutter systems. She first joined Gliderol Doors (S) Pte Ltd in March 2004 shortly
after graduating from university and worked her way up the ranks at the Group.
During her tenure, she held the role of Service Manager where she oversaw the
day-to-day operations of the Group's Services department, and was subsequently
the Group's Sales Manager, where she spearheaded sales in the Singapore market.
Over the span of 20 years, Ms Lin has not only gained in-depth knowledge and
competencies but also built valuable business contacts in the doors and shutters
systems industry. Before joining the Group, she was a Property Officer with Knight
Frank Estate Management Pte. Ltd. between 2002 and 2004.

Ms Lin graduated from the University of Technology of Sydney in 2004 with a
Higher Diploma in Real Estate and Property Management, and also obtained a
Diploma in Building and Real Estate Management from Ngee Ann Polytechnic in
2002.
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Board
Statement

GDS Global Limited (“GDS” or together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed
to sustainability and conducting the Group's business with integrity. The Board of GDS
(the “Board”) considers sustainability issues as part of the Group’s strategy formulation.
The Board determines and endorses the material Environmental, Social and Governance
(“"ESG") factors presented in this report. Through periodic reviews of the key performance
indicators, the Board oversees the management and monitoring of these material ESG
factors, including risks and opportunities.

Sustainability report complies with the requirements of Listing Manual Section B: Rules of
Catalist ("Catalist Rules") of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST").
The report includes details in which the Group incorporates sustainability aspects into the
heart of its operational strategies, with reference to the Global Reporting Initiative ("GRI")
Universal Standards 2021.

A materiality analysis review was conducted to identify the ESG factors that are important
to our key stakeholders and/or significant to our business. ESG topics identified in
previous years have remained highly relevant in the present year and have been carefully
incorporated in the formulation of overall business strategies.

The Board oversees the management and monitoring of these material ESG factors,
including risks and opportunities. The CEO and a team of senior managers are responsible
to assess the materiality of these ESG topics by considering their significance of impact,
influence on stakeholder values, and alignment with the Group's strategic objectives.
The Board endorses and approves the parameters used for identifying and assessing
material ESG topics.

GDS is committed to complying with all applicable compliance laws and regulations. We
have adopted measures to ensure we stay up to date on all regulations and laws relevant to
the Group, to ensure continued compliance. There are zero number of significant instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations and zero monetary value of fines and paid for
the FY2023 reporting period.

Moreover, in line with the worldwide emphasis on climate-related risks and opportunities,
and their implications for businesses, the Group, in FY2023, implemented a gradual strategy
for disclosing climate-related information by following the guidelines of the Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD"). To align with the TCFD recommendations,
the Group is taking a phased approach by understanding the overall climate related risks
and opportunities of scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions in FY2023.

The Group will strengthen its understanding of the carbon emissions throughout its value
chain, and it will conduct a quantitative financial impact analysis. Additionally, the group will
establish and articulate targets, where applicable, to effectively address climate-related
risks.

We remain dedicated to ongoing enhancements and will persist in investing in practices

that promote sustainability, benefiting not only our customers and employees but also the
environment.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2023
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About This
Report

This is the sixth sustainability report by GDS covering mainly the ESG performance of Gliderol Doors (S) Pte.
Ltd. and Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd. Gliderol International (ME) FZE and Homegardd Pte. Ltd. are excluded
from this report due to dormancy. The report covers the Group's ESG performance for the financial year
from 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023 (“FY2023").

REPORTING SCOPE

The report provides an overview of the Group's policies, practices, performance and targets relating to its
material ESG factors, covering the Group’s operations in Singapore, including its head office.

REPORTING STANDARDS

Thisreporthas been prepared with reference to the GRI Standards. We continue to use the GRI Standards for
our reporting, including our materiality analysis, as it is the most widely used and internationally accepted
sustainability reporting framework and provides a comprehensive set of disclosures for reporting.

We aligned our sustainability reporting with the UN Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs") to reflect our
support for sustainable development and to demonstrate our commitment to helping achieve global goals
and targets.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In the preparation of our sustainability reports, we adhere to GRI's principles of accuracy, balance, clarity,
comparability, completeness, timeliness and verifiability to ensure the quality of the report. The content in
this report takes into consideration stakeholder expectations and an understanding of the sustainability
context within which GDS operates. We follow the GRI reporting principles to evaluate the material economic,
environmental, social impacts and governance of our business operations and to identify the topics for this
report. Potential ESG risks and opportunities arising from our business activities have been considered in
the assessment of our material factors.

To enable comparison over time, we have included previous years' ESG performance data.

RESTATEMENT

No restatements were made to previous year's report, except for Waste Management on page 29 and
Employment, Occupational Health and Safety, Training and Education and Diversity and Equal Opportunity
from pages 30 to 37. This modification is a result of a correction in the data reporting methodology for the
current year to account for the headcounts under Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd. which were not included in
the FY2022 report.

EXTERNAL ASSURANCE

We use internal verification to ensure ESG data reliability and have not sought external assurance for this report.

The sustainability reporting process is subject to internal review in accordance with the risk based internal
audit plan as approved by the Audit Committee.

AVAILABILITY

This report is available as part of our FY2023 annual report in PDF format for download on our website at
www.gdsglobal.com.sg and on SGXNet.

FEEDBACK

Stakeholders are welcome to send their feedback or suggestions regarding this report to us at
ir@gliderol.com.sg.
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About
GDS

GDS is a leading specialist provider of commercial and industrial doors and shutter systems solution in
Singapore and the Southeast Asia region. With a history spanning 40 years, we operate one of the largest
manufacturing facilities in the doors and shutter systems solution in Singapore. We supply an extensive
range of doors and shutter systems product comprising industrial door systems, fire-rated shutter systems,
blast and storm-resistant shutters, commercial door systems, hangar door systems and special applications
door systems. We also provide service and maintenance works for the products supplied or installed by us
or third parties.

An innovation-driven business, GDS strives to excel in product quality. For example, we use our extensive
expertise in materials and manufacturing to develop insulated fire doors and shutters that prevent the
spread of fires in buildings and warehouses.

SUSTAINABILITY: EMBEDDED IN OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY

At GDS, we conduct our business to the highest standards of ethics and integrity, and we take our social and
environmental responsibilities seriously. Sustainability is firmly embedded in our management practices
and our business strategy. Our sustainability approach is to carefully assess and proactively address the
economic, environmental, social and governance impacts of our business activities. Crucial aspects of our
business strategy include innovation, product quality, the safety and well-being of our employees and
resource efficiency.

We are committed to upholding internationally accepted labour and human rights principles such as
the International Labour Organization’s ("ILO") Core Labour Standards and the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights. We support sustainable development and have aligned our sustainability reporting with the
UN SDGs.

GDS has adopted international standards in quality systems, environmental management and occupational
health and safety. GDS is certified to the following standards: ISO 9000:2015, ISO 45001:2018 and bizSAFE
Level STAR.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

In FY2023, guided by the Board, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ") provides the strategic direction for
developing and implementing the Group's sustainability strategy. Sustainability reporting forms a key
pillar of this strategy. A team of senior managers has the responsibility of implementing sustainability
strategies, monitoring performance, and collecting data for sustainability reporting. In FY2024, the team will
communicate progress updates to the Board of Directors.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2023 17



ESG Performance
Overview

MATERIAL TOPICS AND INDICATORS REPORTING PERIOD

FY2023 FY2022
ENVIRONMENTAL
Scope 1 emissions (tC0O5)1 199 70
Stationary combustion 52 B
Mobile fuel combustion 90 70
Fugitive emissions (refrigerants) 57 _
Scope 2 emissions (tC0O5)1 141 130
Electricity (market based) B B
Electricity (location based) 141 130
GHG emission intensity (tCO5 / Revenue S$'000) 28 15
Energy intensity (T} / Revenue S$'000) 0.20 0.16
Total consumption of electircity (in kWh) 337,717 320,244
Total consumption of energy (in T))2 2.499 2.181
Total non-hazardous waste generated (Tonnes) 98 62
SOCIAL
Employees
* Male 59 62
* Female 24 28
* Full-time employees (Number) 79 85
* Part-time employees (Number) 4 5
* New hires (Number) 9 15
* Female full-time employees (%) 27 28
* Female middle management (%) 100 75
« Female senior management (%) 50 62
* Rate of recordable work-related injuries 10.7 10.0
* Fatal accidents (Number) 0 0
Total turnover rate (%) 19 17
Average training hours per employee 9.2 10
Annual performance appraisal completion rate (%) 100 100
GOVERNANCE
Percentage of female directors on the Board (%) 33 25
Confirmed incidents of corruption or bribery 0 0
Significant incidents of non-compliance with regulations3 0 0
Major product safety issue and negative feedbacks 0 0

T GHG emissions are derived in accordance with the requirements of the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard”.
The Global Warming Potential dataset is based on the 2014 IPCC Fifth Assessment Report.

2 Energy consumption (TJ) includes the use of fuel, petrol, diesel and electricity.

3 We define a significant incident of non-compliance where a fine of $25,000 or more was incurred.
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Stakeholder

Engagement

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our key stakeholders - the people and groups impacted by our business activities or who have the potential
to affect our operations - include customers, employees, suppliers, contractors, regulators, investors, and
shareholders. Communicating with our stakeholders to understand their concerns, expectations and
feedback is an integral part of our approach to business. Our policy is to maintain open communication
and dialogue with our stakeholders, ensuring that they can easily reach the most relevant contact point

related to their needs.

An overview of our stakeholders and engagement channels is provided in the following table.

STAKEHOLDERS EXPECTATIONS HOW WE ENGAGE
Customers * Product quality and safety * Sales meetings
ag standards * Quality inspections
* Innovative solutions + Networking sessions
= * Timely completion of projects
Employees * Employee health and wellbeing * Regular team meetings

* Workplace safety

* Training opportunities

* Fair remuneration and rewards
« Welfare programmes

* Work-life balance

&

* Internal communication

* Training programmes

* Performance reviews

« Company get-together events

Suppliers and contractors - Clarity of specifications and
€§3 quality standards

%}5 + Payment according to

* Supplier Meetings
* Quality inspections
* Networking sessions

contractual terms
Government agencies and
regulators

@&

2l
LI,

+ Compliance with applicable
regulations
* Productivity and innovation

* Attending meetings, briefings, and seminars
organised by government agencies

+ Consistent return on investment
+ Good corporate governance

* Risk management

* Long-term business growth

Investors and shareholders

+ Regular updates through announcements
on SGXNet and Group's website

* Annual General Meetings (“AGM")

+ Dedicated investor relations section within
our website

Community

S

s

« Corporate citizenship

* Supporting various community initiatives

MEMBERSHIP OF ASSOCIATIONS

Being a member of relevant industry and trade associations is important for GDS and the Group. It keeps
us at the forefront of industry developments, enables us to network and communicate with our peers,
helps raise our profile and aligns us with recognised and respected industry bodies. Certain entities under
the Group hold memberships of the following associations:

+ Singapore Business Federation (“SBF")

+ Singapore Manufacturers Federation (“SMF")
* Building and Construction Authority (“BCA")
* Association of Catalist Companies
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Materiality
Analysis

Materiality in the context of sustainability reporting, according to GRI Standards, encompasses subjects and
metrics that mirror the organisation’s noteworthy economic, environmental and social effects, significantly
shaping the evaluations and choices of stakeholders. Under the guidance of our consultant and considering
the concerns and expectations of key stakeholders, the Management has evaluated and prioritised material
topics, targets and commitments to concentrate on for the Group.

Management assessed and concluded that the material factors covered in the previous sustainability report
remain relevant for GDS and stakeholders. Therefore, this report focuses on energy efficiency, resource
conservation and waste reduction, workplace health and safety, employee welfare (including training
and development), product quality and safety, and good governance (anti-corruption and regulatory
compliance).

The material factors are subsequently reviewed by the Management and approved by the Board.

An overview of our material ESG factors is presented in the following table.

NO. KEY ISSUES’ GRI REFERENCE
1. Economic Performance GRI 201: Economic Performance
2. Anti-Corruption GRI 205: Anti-Corruption
Environmental Responsibilities
3. Energy Consumption GRI 302: Energy
4, Climate and Environment GRI 305: Emissions
5. Waste Management GRI 306: Waste
Social and Community Responsibilities
Our People
6. Employment GRI 401: Employment
7. Occupational Health and Safety GRI 403: Occupational Health and Safety
8. Training and Career Development GRI 404: Training and Education
9. Diversity and Equal Opportunity GRI 405: Diversity and Equal Opportunity
Our Customer
10. Product Quality and Safety GRI 416: Customer Health and Safety

TKey issues are not ranked in priority
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Materiality
Analysis

SUPPORTING THE UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS (SDGs)

We are committed to supporting sustainable development through our responsible business practices.
The SDGs are a collection of 17 interlinked global goals designed to be a shared blueprint for peace and
prosperity for people and the planet, now and into the future. We have aligned our material sustainability
topics with the relevant SDGs to underpin our contribution to sustainable development and to highlight the
areas in which GDS can make a positive difference in the achievement of the goals.

THE UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

Material Topics SDGs Supported

DECENT WORK AND PEACE, JUSTICE
ECONOMIC GROWTH 16 AND STRONG
INSTITUTIONS
Economic Performance and Anti-Corruption /]
i I:IDDI:I =
13 5o CLERN ENERGH
. . . AN
Energy Consumption and Climate and Environment Uggo
&
12 Gisturmon
AND PRODUCTION
Product Quality and Safety and Waste Management ﬂ&
&9
4 Bichon Sucarion

@ S
Occupational Health and Safety, Employment, Training and Career

Development, Diversity and Equal Opportunity 10 o GOOD HEALTH

AAND WELL-BENING
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Economic Perfomance and
Anti-Corruption

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

GDS remains committed to creating long-term value for our shareholders, investors and stakeholders
through prudent management and robust governance.

The Board and Management take ESG sustainability responsibilities seriously. The management approach
is to integrate sustainability into our business model and product innovation strategies and manufacturing,
such as, Blast Resistant shutters (versus conventional roller shutters which can turn into potentially
hazardous debris in a blast situation) and insulated fire doors and shutters (prevent spread of fires in
buildings, warehouses, etc).

Our financial performance for FY2023 can be found on page 94 to 140.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We conduct our business with responsibility toward the environment and the societies and communities
in which we operate. This involves taking a strict stance on anti-corruption and ensuring we are compliant
with all relevant laws and regulations in the regions in which we operate. Corruption including practices
such as bribery and embezzlement are widely associated with negative impacts such as abuse of human
rights and undermining the rule of law. Organisations are expected to demonstrate their adherence to
integrity, governance, and responsible business practices.

The Group is extremely stringent in its internal operations and procedures, and any non-compliance or
lapses to its internal controls will be rectified with corrective measures recommended by the organisation’s
internal and external auditors. This will also be reviewed by the management, various board committees
and the Board, to ensure that the Board is satisfied that adequate and effective controls are put in place.

Our anti-corruption policy mandates zero tolerance towards bribery and corruption. All employees are
made aware of this policy and the requirement of strict adherence to our code of conduct.
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Anti-Corruption

Our whistle-blowing policy helps us maintain a high standard of corporate governance and integrity. The
policy guides employees on actions to address their concerns on suspicions of fraudulent activities or other
unethical behaviour and provides a channel of communication for employees to report such occurrences.

The policy also provides the process for investigation and management reporting, and covers the following
areas:

« Conflicts of interest: An employee or officer should always act in the best interest of the Group. A
“conflict of interest” occurs when an individual's personal interests interfere or appear to interfere with the
interests of the Group.

+ Taking advantage of corporate opportunities: Employees and Directors are prohibited from taking
advantage of corporate property, information, position, or opportunities arising from these, for personal
gains or to compete with the Group.

+ Confidentiality: Employees and Directors must maintain the confidentiality of information entrusted to
them by the Group or its customers, except when disclosure is authorised or legally mandated.

« Fair dealing: Each employee and Director should endeavour to deal fairly with the Group’s customers,
suppliers, competitors, and employees. No one should take unfair advantage of anyone through dishonesty,
misrepresentation of material facts or any other unfair practice.

* Protection and proper use of the Group's assets: All employees and officers should protect the Group's
assets and ensure their efficient use for legitimate business purposes.

+ Compliance with laws, rules, and regulations (including insider trading laws): We actively promote
compliance with laws, rules, and regulations, including insider trading laws. Insider trading is both unethical
and illegal.

* Unethical behaviour: We actively promote ethical behaviour and encourage employees to report any
misconduct in this regard.

* Protection from reprisal: Employees are protected from reprisal within the limits of the law of
victimisation for whistle-blowing in good faith, with their identity kept confidential.

+ Independent monitoring and oversight: The policy also provides for a well-defined process which
ensures independent investigation of issues / concerns raised and appropriate follow-up action.

On a day-to-day operation, various departments within the Group retain the responsibility of evaluating the sufficiency

and efficacy of mitigating measures which includes management of risks related to finances, operations, information
technology, compliance, and reputation.

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
Zero reported incident of Zero reported incident of Zero reported incident of
corruption or bribery and corruption or bribery and corruption or bribery and
zero reported incident of non- zero reported incident of non- zero reported incident of non-
compliance with regulations compliance with regulations compliance with regulations
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Climate and
Environment

As aresponsible business, we are committed to minimising our environmental impacts and carbon footprint.
Our main environmental impacts arise from the use of electricity, fuel, and manufacturing waste. We make
efforts to improve energy and resource efficiency to reduce the impact of our business operations on the
environment.

We are investing in greener, fuel-efficient vehicles and exploring an electric fleet to reduce our carbon
footprint. We are also investing in a more efficient manufacturing process which will reduce the amount of
waste generated.

In addition, we will replace high energy-usage lights with energy-saving LED lights in common areas such as
stairways and workplaces with high human traffic, We also installed timers to air-conditioners, and replace
selected ceiling lights with motion-sensor lights. The Group may explore funding from public agencies to
fund expansion or green initiatives. For instance, the Energy Efficient Fund which helps companies upgrade
their equipment before the carbon tax increase.

To further strengthen the Group's awareness and understanding of climate change impact, the Group
has in FY2023 adopted the recommendation of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(“TCFD") in managing climate related risks and opportunities.

Governance Risk Management

+ Climate risks and opportunities and associated | -

metrics have been presented to the Board

of Directors. Climate related risks and
opportunities are evaluated by the Board of
Directors in the Group's business and strategy
as part of its overall oversight on sustainability
topics of the Group.

Climate risks and opportunities are managed
by the Management on a day-to-day

basis involving the development and execution
of policies and processes to manage risks.

Climate risks and opportunities have been
integrated into the overall risks management
process.

Climate physical and transition risks have
been assessed in accordance to the Group's
risk parameters and action plans are identified
to mitigate risks. The Group's risks, impact and
action plans are reviewed at least annually.

Strategy

Metrics

In FY2023, the Group incorporated climate
related risks to the Group's risk assessment
process. A series of workshops have been
conducted to identify the relevant physical
and transition risks and its financial impact to
the business from a short-, medium- and long-
term perspective.

Climate-related risks and opportunities are
reviewed by the Management and
the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

Climate-related scenario analysis on the
resilience of the Group's strategy will be
considered in the future when the Group has

collected sufficient baseline data for disclosure.

In FY2023, Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas
emissions have been assessed and identified
across the business to further understand the
Group’s emissions.
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Climate and
Environment

CLIMATE RISKS

The relevant physical and transition risks and associated financial impact are described below. The risk rat-
ings are aligned with the Group's risk parameters and definition of risk ratings:

RISKS DESCRIPTION FINANCIAL TIME
IMPACT PERIOD®
Physical (Acute) Disruption to operations from extreme Increase in cost of Medium - Long
weather condition (e.g., health, safety, operations Term

absenteeism) from heat stress especially
in manufacturing areas which are
generally hotter.

Physical Natural disasters and the outbreak of Increase in cost of Short - Medium
(Chronic) a pandemic (e.g. earthquakes, H1N1, operations Term

Covid-19)
Transition (Policy and Inability to adapt to changes in the Reduction in Short - Medium
Legal) government regulations which may revenue Term

lead to non-compliances and/or loss of

revenue.
Transition Unable to develop products or services Increase in cost of Medium - Long
(Market, Policy that are align with industry regulation operations Term
and Legal) changes and customer preference to

green technologies.

Transition (Policy
and Legal)

Tightening regulations on local
Greenhouse Gas Emission - carbon
pricing, energy standards and disclosure
reporting.

Increase in cost of
operations

Medium - Long
Term

Transition (Market,
Policy and Legal)

Increased production costs due to
changing input prices (e.g., energy or
electricity).

Increase in cost of
operations

Short - Medium
Term

" Short term (< 3 year), Medium term (3-5 years), Long term (> 5 years).
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Climate and
Environment
GREEN HOUSE GAS (“GHG") EMISSIONS

We are fully supportive of the 2015 Paris Agreement, a global treaty signed by the world's governments
to limit global warming to well below 2°C, preferably restricting it to 1.5°C compared to pre-industrial
levels. We understand that every company has a responsibility to reduce its GHG emissions and take steps
towards a carbon-free economy to halt global warming and avert the most destructive consequences of
climate change.

While GDS is not a significant user of energy, and as such our direct GHG emissions are relatively low, we
are committed to making efforts to reduce these emissions. We monitor our carbon emissions closely,
and review and report on the CO, emissions (a significant greenhouse gas) resulting from our energy
use. Greenhouse gas, ozone-depleting substances, and nitrogen oxides and sulphur oxides among other
significant air emissions are major contributors to climate change.

Reductions in emission of regulated pollutants lead to improved health conditions for workers and local
communities and can enhance relations with affected stakeholders. The Group continues to transition to
the usage of Electric Vehicles as well as other energy saving technologies.

Our GHG emissions arise mainly from electricity, diesel and petrol consumption. GRI305 Emission was
identified as the metrics used to assess climate related risks & opportunities.The Group’s Scope 1 and 2
CO5 Emissions is detailed below:

GHG Emission FY2023 FY2022
Total Carbon Emission (tonnes CO5 equivalent)? 340 200
Scope 1 Emissions (tCO5) 199 70

* Stationary combustion 52 -

* Mobile fuel combustion? 90 70

« Fugitive emissions (refrigerants)3 57 -
Scope 2 Emissions (tCO5) 141 130

« Purchased electricity (market based) - -

* Purchased electricity (location based)4 141 130
GHG Emission Intensity (tCO5 / Revenue S$'000) 28 15

" GHG emissions are derived in accordance with the requirements of the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard”.
The Global Warming Potential dataset is based on the 2014 IPCC Fifth Assessment Report.

2 Mobile fuel combustion are primarily fuel (diesel and gasoline) consumed by medium and heavy-duty vehicles, passenger cars and
non-road vehicles.

3 Fugitive emissions are primarily emissions from the air-conditioning and refrigerators from the Group’s facilities.

4 Purchased electricity are location-based with data derived from the national grids of Singapore.

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

In FY2023, the overall carbon emissions rose by 140 tCO, compared to FY2022. The rise in emissions can be
linked to the utilisation of fuel, such as lubricants, ethylene, and gas like acetylene, in operational activities,

as well as the use of refrigerants for servicing air conditioning units and refrigerators in FY2023.

The lower GHG emissions intensity in FY2022 was due to the exclusion of stationary combustion and fugitive
emissions. To achieve the target for FY2024, we will be implementing the following actions:

+ Turn off lights and electrical appliances after office hours to prevent energy wastage
+ Transitioning to energy-saving LED light globes
+ Maintain equipment efficiency
FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
17 tCO2 / Revenue S$'000 28 tCO5 / Revenue S$'000 23 tCO5 / Revenue S$'000
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Climate and
Environment
ENERGY CONSUMPTION

We rely on electricity in our manufacturing facility to power tools and equipment, and in our office for air-
conditioning and lighting. All our electricity is purchased from a utility supplier. Our main fuel consumption
is the petrol and diesel used to power our delivery and service trucks.

Energy consumption can occur throughout the upstream and downstream activities connected with an
organisation’s operations. GDS prioritises using energy more efficiently and recognises that opting for
renewable energy sources is essential in combating climate change and lowering an organisation’s overall
environmental footprint. We monitor and review our energy consumption regularly and we use energy
intensity (the amount of energy used per million dollars in revenue, TJ / S$ million) to track our performance.

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

In FY2023, our energy consumption was 2.499 T, an increase from 2.181 TJ in the previous year. In FY2023,
our energy intensity was 0.20 TJ / S$ million in revenue compared with 0.16 TJ / S$ million in FY2022. The
goal of achieving 0.192 TJ/ S$ million in revenue was not met in FY2023.

The escalation in consumption was driven by higher business activities, resulting in increased consumption
of electricity for operating machinery, with factory lights being utilised for extended hours. Additionally, our
drivers are required to undertake more delivery trips to various sites and client premises for service and
maintenance, which leads to an increased in petrol and diesel consumption.

The Group's energy consumption details as below:

ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY SOURCE (%)

8%
Diesel

1% 41% 6%
Petrol Diesel

91%
Electricity 53%

Electricity

FUEL CONSUMPTION (LITRES) ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION (KWH)
. Diesel . Petrol
29,299 320,244 337,717
23,109
I 3,965 4,733
] ]
FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023
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Climate and

Environment
ENERGY CONSUMPTION (TERAJOULE) ENERGY INTENSITY
(TJ / Revenue S$ Million)
2.499 0.20
2.181 0.16
FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023

Strategic measures and initiatives for managing energy intensity will be implemented to effectively attain
the FY2024 target:

+ Get employees engaged in energy-efficient practices.
 Turn off lights when not in use.

+ Use energy efficient light bulbs.

* Maintaining lorry and equipment efficiency.

FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
Energy Intensity: 0.192TJ / Energy Intensity: 0.20 T / Energy Intensity: 0.192 T/
S$ million in revenue S$ million in revenue S$ million in revenue
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Waste
Management

Waste is generated during the manufacturing process from raw materials, and additional waste is produced
when the end user or consumers dispose of the final product purchased from the organisation. Ineffective
handling or mishandling waste will lead to harmful impacts on the environment and human health.

We follow the three ‘R" approach to manage the waste we produce: Reduce, Reuse and Recycle where
possible. In FY2023, waste had increased from 62 tonnes in FY2022 to 98 tonnes. This increase is attributed
to service sales increase from S$2.7 million in FY2022 to S$3.4 million in FY2023, leading to more scrap
metal waste. The majority of our waste originates from manufacturing processes, predominantly consisting
of metals, aluminium, and wood. There is no material hazardous waste in our operations.

GDS recognises the significance of embracing a circular economy in Singapore to enhance waste diversion
and we will continue to implement the three ‘R" approach. We have designed systems to segregate, store
and safely dispose of our waste. We engage licensed waste management contractors to recycle or dispose
of our waste as per local regulations.

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

In FY2023, all our metal, wood, and paper waste were recycled, constituting 61% of our overall non-hazardous
waste. This achievement is in line with our objective to recycle at least 50% of our non-hazardous waste.

Waste FY2023 FY2022 (Restated)
Total Waste Generated (Tonnes) 98 62

* Hazardous - -

* Non-Hazardous 98 62
Percentage of Waste Diverted from Disposal 61% 64%

Non-Hazardous Waste (Tonnes)
e Preparation for reuse - -

* Recycling 59 40
* Other recovery operations - -

51%
Il Fy2023
B Fy2022
49%
13%
12%
Metal & Wood & General
Aluminum Papers
FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
Recycle at least 50% of non- Recycled 61% of non-hazardous Recycle at least 50% of non-
hazardous waste waste hazardous waste
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Employment

Our employees play a critical role in the success of GDS, and we strive to create a workplace culture where
our workforce is empowered and engaged, motivated and given the tools to develop professionally and
perform to the best of their abilities. By attracting, developing, and retaining the most suitable talent, we
can better serve our customers and remain at the forefront of product innovation. We are also committed
to providing a safe working environment with strict health and safety controls, and promoting an inclusive
work culture whereby all customs and cultures are fully valued and respected.

In FY2023, GDS had a total workforce of 83 employees, with 79 serving as full-time employees and
4 employees on a part-time basis. All employees in GDS held permanent contracts and there were no
temporary staff members.

EMPLOYEES (NUMBER)
B Full Time M PartTime
Part Time Part Time
FY2022
(Restated) FY2023
85 79
Full Time Full Time
The Group’s new hires and turnover details are as below:
NEW HIRING (%)
M Under 30 M 30-50 Over 50 Hl Male [ Female
22% 13%
56%
80% 45%
87%
33% 44%
20%
FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023
(Restated) (Restated)
AGE GENDER
TURNOVER VOLUNTARY (%)
M Under 30 M 30-50 Over 50 Hl Male M Female
22% 12%
43%
56%
57% 69%
57%
44%
21% 19%
FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023
(Restated) (Restated)
AGE GENDER
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Employment

In FY2023, 1 female employee had taken maternity leave. She returned to work and remained an employee
of the Group for more than a year.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Together with competitive wages and professional development opportunities, we provide a number of
health benefits to our employees to support their well-being, such as:

* Healthcare (outpatient medical benefits, hospitalisation and surgical benefits, among others)
+ Paternity & Maternity Leaves

+ Retirement Provision

* Bonus

+ Compassionate Leaves

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

Our employee turnover rate increased to 19% in FY2023 as compared with prior year 17%, lower than our
target of 23%.

TURNOVER RATE (VOLUNTARY) (%)

FY2022 7

FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
Annual turnover rate of 23% Annual turnover rate of 19% Annual turnover rate of 23%
or lower or lower
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Diversity and
Equal Opportunity

Our workplace policies promote an inclusive workplace where diversity of background is valued and
respected. In relation to gender diversity, we operate in a physically demanding manufacturing environment
that has traditionally attracted male workers.

During the reporting period, female employees comprised 27% of our full-time workforce at GDS. However,
women filled 100% of middle management roles and occupied 50% of senior management roles.

At the Board level, two of the six members are females. One is an Executive Director, and the other is an
Independent Non-Executive Director.

As of 30 September 2023, the Company has the following employment statistics:

TOTAL EMPLOYEES BY GENDER

FY2022 (Restated) FY2023

Male Female Male
69% 31% 71%
TOTAL EMPLOYEES BY AGE GROUP
67%
64%
24%
0 19%
14% 12%
Under 30 30-50 Over 50 Under 30 30-50 Over 50
FY2022 (Restated) FY2023
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Diversity and
Equal Opportunity

GENDER DIVERSITY BY EMPLOYEE
CATEGORY FY2022 (Restated)

Non-Executive Non-Executive

Executive Executive

Middle Management Middle Management

Senior Management Senior Management

GENDER DIVERSITY BY EMPLOYEE
CATEGORY FY2023

Non-Executive Non-Executive

Executive Executive

Middle Management Middle Management

Senior Management Senior Management
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Training and
Education

Regular training and development of our employees are essential for GDS to maintain its innovation driven
approach and its strong focus to continually improve the quality of our products.

On-the-job training and mentoring by experienced supervisors form integral parts of the employee
development programme. Employees also receive training in product knowledge, emerging industry trends
and new technologies in the form of workshops, seminars and conferences. For new employees joining
GDS, there is a detailed orientation programme they must complete, which introduces them to the Group's
corporate identity, policies, and standard operating procedures.

Some of the courses attended by our employees in FY2023 included:
+ Construction Safety Orientation Course (CSOC)

* First Aid Course

+ Foundations in Corporate Sustainability Course

+ JTC Safety Induction Course

* Manage Work at Height Course

+ MSOC WSQ Apply Workplace Safety & Health in Metal Work

+ Operate Scissor Lift, Boom Lift, Forklift, Lorry Crane and Vertical Personnel Platform Course
« Perform Rigger and Signalman Tasks Course

* Respond to Fire Emergencies in Buildings Course

+ Settling-In Programme for Migrant Workers

+ Workplace Safety and Health in Process Plant Course

+ Workplace Safety and Health Co-Ordinator Refresher Training

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

In FY2023, the average hours of training per employee was 9.2 hours, slightly lower than 10 hours in the
preceding year and lower than our target of 15 hours. The decline in training hours was a result of reduces
employees in FY2023, leading to fewer employees being sent for training.

AVERAGE TRAINING HOURS PER EMPLOYEE (HOURS)
FY2023 FY2022
9.2 10

AVERAGE TRAINING HOURS PER EMPLOYEE BY GENDER (HOURS)

FY2023 FY2022
Male Female Male Female
11 2 13 2
AVERAGE TRAINING HOURS PER EMPLOYEE (HOURS)

EMPLOYEE CATEGORY FY2023
Non-executives 10.22
Executives 10.38
Middle management 1.75
Senior management 3.78

We remain committed to increase employee training in line with our target.

FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
Average of 15 hours of training | Average of 9.2 hours of training | Average of 10 hours of training
per employee per employee per employee

1 Change in average of hours of training per employee to 10 hours instead of 15 hours due to reduction of total employees within the
Company.
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Performance and
Career Development Review

Employee turnover can indicate levels of certainty and satisfaction among employees. It can also signal a
fundamental change in the structure of an organisation’s core operations.

GDS designed human resources policies and management practices to reward performance and offer
development opportunities to our employees. The system is designed to foster openness and fairness. Wage
increases, promotions and further training are determined based on performance evaluation outcomes for
each employee. Annual performance reviews are conducted to mitigate any potential negative impacts on
staff members.

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET
In FY2023, all employees undertake an annual performance appraisal. This involves an open discussion

between the employee and their supervisor, whereby performance is assessed, and any development
needs or skills gaps are discussed. Respective Department Heads then review and approve the evaluations.

PERFORMANCE AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT REVIEWS

(FY2023)
B Non-Executives Middle Management
B Executives Senior Management
Male 4
Female 4
FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target

N.A 100% employees undergo annual Ensure a 100% annual
performance appraisal performance appraisal

completion rate for all employees
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Occupational Health
and Safety

Healthy and safe work conditions are recognised as a human right and it involves both prevention of
physical and mental harm, and promotion of workers' health. It is essential that workers participate and
are consulted in the development of occupational health and safety policies such as hazard identification
and risk assessment, worker training and incident identification and investigation.

Our fleets are also scheduled for regular inspection and servicing to ensure that the vehicles and equipment
are operating at its optimal performance. We have also attained numerous certifications and awards,
including BizSafe Certification and Occupational Health and Safety Management System ("OHSMS")
certification.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Our occupational health and safety management system is designed to identify and control risks and
enables us to continuously improve health and safety performance within our operations. We have
implemented detailed risk management procedures covering hazard identification, risk assessment and
controls. It comprises a three-step approach: identifying hazards that affect organisational performance,
assessing potential risks to employees’ health and safety, and implementing adequate controls to eliminate
risks. We maintain a risk register and the management reviews and approves all risk assessment records.

Through our risk assessment, we have identified various potential hazards in our operations, which include
workers falling from height, falling objects, pinch points, contact with rotating parts, trips and falls, contact
with sharp edges or corners, electrocution, collisions with moving machinery such as scissor lifts or forklifts,
and toppling of cranes, scissor lifts or forklifts due to overloading. We have taken preventive measures
to mitigate these hazards that include using personal protective equipment, safety training, regular
maintenance of equipment and hazard elimination. We require workers to comply with our occupational
health and safety policy to ensure safety at the workplace. Workers are required to report work-related
incidents immediately to their supervisors, and we encourage workers to report potential hazards to
management without any fear of retaliation. Sub-contractors are also required to undergo our safety
induction and are required to follow the risk management process, including hazard identification, control
measures, monitoring, and procedures for communication.

INCIDENT INVESTIGATION

It is critical that we involve employees in the ongoing development of our health and safety policies and all
related activities, through consultation and participation in hazard identification, analysing and mitigating
risks, and investigating incidents. For any incidents that occur, we have established procedures to fully
investigate and determine corrective actions. Our dedicated Health and Safety Committee, comprising
employee representatives from various departments, participate in the development and monitoring of
our health and safety programmes. We regularly engage and train our employees in safe work practices,
and we ensure that the relevant employees renew their safe work certifications on a timely basis where
applicable.

We take pride in our exemplary safety performance, which is often recognised by our customers. Our
manufacturing facility is certified with ISO 45001:2018, an international standard, and our facility has been
awarded a BizSAFE STAR certification from the Workplace Safety and Health Council, MOM in Singapore.

PROMOTING HEALTH AND SAFETY

We also have activities in place to help keep our employees healthy over the long term. Our ongoing
occupational health and safety programmes include monthly toolbox meetings, health talks, safety drills
and demonstrations, and proper use of personal protective equipment. These also apply to our sub-
contractors, and we have a sub-contractor evaluation process in place. Our occupational health services
provided to eligible employees include a hearing conservation programme, yearly audiometry test,
respiratory protection programme and first aid provisions.
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Occupational Health
and Safety

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

The rate of recordable work injuries had increased by 0.7 from 10.0 to 10.7 in FY2023. This rise can be
attributed to an additional injury case alongside a reduction in total working hours during FY2023. The
reduction in the total hours worked during FY2023, dropped from 200,980 hours to 186,940 hours, due to
increased voluntary turnover and a decrease in new employee hires.

The Company will continue to intensify efforts to raise safety awareness and encourage safe work practices
in the workplace, implementing punitive measures as needed.

Our performance indicators are shown in the following table below.

Indicator Unit FY2023 FY2022 (Restated)?

Fatalities due to work- Number 0 0

related injuries Rate 0 0
High-consequence (non- Number 0 0

fatal) work-related injuries Rate 0 0
Recordable work-related Number 2 2

injuries Rate 10.7 10.0
Number of hours worked Hours 186,940 200,980

Notes:
Fatality Rate = (Number of fatalities as a result of work-related injury / Number of hours worked) x1,000,000

Rate of high-consequence work-related injuries = (Number of high-consequence work-related injuries
(excluding fatalities)/ Number of hours worked) x 1,000,000

Rate of recordable work-related injuries = (Number of recordable work-related injuries / Number of hours
worked) x 1,000,000

" Number of hours worked has been restated and was significantly higher than previously reported due to change in reporting methodology.

FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target

Zero fatalities Zero fatalities Zero fatalities

Zero incidents of occupational

Zero occupational diseases Zero occupational diseases

diseases
10% year-on-year reduction in 10.7 (FY2023) 10% year-on-year reduction in
recordable work-related injuries 10.0 (FY2022) recordable work-related injuries
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Product Quality
and Safety

The quality and safety of our products is of utmost importance to us, to our customers, and to the general
public. Due to the application of our products in typically public or workplace environments, any impact
arising from our products’ usability and safety extend far beyond its installation. To help us consistently
provide products that meet customer and applicable statutory and regulatory requirements, we have
implemented a robust quality management system in our production processes and obtained ISO 9001:2015
certification from SGS United Kingdom Ltd.

We also place a high priority on innovation and research and development, and have patented various
technologies over the years, for example, technology which has enabled us to create a wide range of
fire shutters, blast mitigating and storm shutters. Our fire shutters carry different levels of fire and heat
insulation and are tested by reputable international laboratories like Branz, TUV SUD, UL and FM to meet
numerous industry standards like the European (EN), British and other international standards. Our blast-
mitigating shutters are tested by ABS Consulting Inc. in the USA and storm-resistant shutters are tested by
Windtech Consultant Pte Ltd in Singapore.

Customising our products to meet diverse customer needs is another example of the service we provide.
Creating transparent panels and additional safety devices to enhance user safety for our industrial and
commercial door systems is just one example.

Our business scope goes beyond innovating, producing and installing our products as after-sales service is
also a key part of our work. We provide preventive and general maintenance works, repair and replacement
of faulty components and safety checks for our customers to ensure a high level of safety is maintained and
to help extend the lifespan of the product.

It is this combination of focus on product quality, safety, innovation, and excellence which has helped us
forge long-term relationships with many customers. The end-users of our products operate across a broad
spectrum of industries, and over the years, our products have been installed in iconic places such as Rolls-
Royce Singapore’s facility, Marina Bay Financial Centre, JTC Bedok Food City, HomeTeams Clubhouse at
Khatib, Shimano Singapore Pte Ltd @ Bulim Drive and NTUC at Sunview Road.

OUR PERFORMANCE AND TARGET

FY2023 Target FY2023 Performance FY2024 Target
There were no major product
No major product safety issue or safety issues or negative No major product safety issue or
negative feedback feedback received from negative feedback
customers
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GRI Content

Index

Statement of Use

period 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023.

GDS Global Limited has reported with reference to the GRI Standards for the

GRI 1 Used

GRI 1: Foundation 2021

Applicable GRI Sector

Not applicable as a GRI sector standard is not available for our industry

Standard(s)

GRI Standard Disclosure Location
ORGANISATIONAL DETAILS AND REPORTING PRACTICES

GRI 2-1 Organisational details Page 17

GRI 2-2 Entities included in the organisation’s sustainability reporting Page 16

GRI 2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point Page 16

GRI 2-4 Restatements of information Page 16

GRI 2-5 External assurance Page 16
ACTIVITIES AND WORKERS

GRI 2-6 Activities, value chain and other business relationships Page 19

GRI 2-7 Employees Page 30 - 37
GOVERNANCE

GRI 2-9 Governance structure and composition AR page 43 - 44
GRI 2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body AR page 51 - 53
GRI 2-11 Chair of the highest governance body AR page 50

GRI 2-12 ch:alﬁ;)gfetg%mggfeiitqggé/tesrnance body in overseeing the AR page 43 - 47
GRI 2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts AR page 46

GRI 2-14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability reporting Page 17

GRI 2-15 Conflicts of interest AR page 43

GRI 2-16 Communication of critical concerns Page 22 - 23
GRI 2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body Page 17

GRI 2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body AR page 54 - 55
GRI 2-19 Remuneration policies AR page 55 - 57
GRI 2-20 Process to determine remuneration AR page 57
STRATEGIES, POLICIES AND PRACTICES

GRI 2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy Page 17

GRI 2-23 Policy commitments Page 17

GRI 2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns Page 17,22 -23
GRI 2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations Page 15

GRI 2-28 Membership associations Page 19
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

GRI 2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement Page 19
MATERIAL TOPICS

GRI 3-1 Process to determine material topics Page 20

GRI 3-2 List of material topics Page 20

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics Page 20

GRI 201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed Page 22
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GRI Content

Index

ANTI-CORRUPTION

GRI 205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and Page 22
procedures
GRI 205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken Page 23
ENERGY
GRI 302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation Page 27
GRI 302-3 Energy intensity Page 27 - 28
EMISSIONS
GRI 305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions Page 26
GRI 305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions Page 26
GRI 305-4 GHG emission intensity Page 26
WASTE
GRI 306-1 Waste generation and significant waste-related impacts Page 29
GRI 306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts Page 29
GRI 306-3 Waste generated Page 29
GRI 306-4 Waste diverted from disposal Page 29
EMPLOYMENT
GRI 401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover Page 30
Benefits provided to full time employees that are not provided to
GRI401-2 temporary or part time employees Page 31
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
GRI 403-1 Occupational health and safety management system Page 36
Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident
GRI 403-2 investigation Page 36
GRI 403-3 Occupational health services Page 36
GRI 403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on Page 36
occupational health and safety
GRI 403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety Page 36
GRI 403-6 Promotion of worker health Page 36
Prevention and mitigation of occupational health and safety
GRI403-7 impacts directly linked by business relationships Page 36
GRI 403-9 Work-related injuries Page 37
TRAINING AND EDUCATION
GRI 404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee Page 34
) Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition assistance
GRI 404-2 programs Page 34
) Percentage of employees receiving
GRI 404-3 regular performance and career development reviews Page 35
DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY
GRI 405-1 ‘ Diversity of governance bodies and employees Page 32-33
CUSTOMERS HEALTH AND SAFETY
) Assestment of the health and safety impacts of product and
GRI416-1 service categories Page 38
GRI 416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety Page 38

impacts of products and services
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Corporate
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86 International Road
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Corporate
Governance

GDS Global Limited (the “Company” or “GDS") and its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”) are
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance in complying with the Code of Corporate
Governance 2018 (the “Code”). This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices that were in place
during the financial year ended 30 September 2023 (“FY2023").

The board of directors (the “Board"”) is pleased to confirm that for FY2023, the Group has adhered to the principles
and provisions as outlined in the Code. Where there are any deviations from the provisions of the Code, the
Company has explained how the practices it has adopted are consistent with the intent of the relevant principles.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business
and to review such practices from time to time.

BOARD MATTERS
Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with management
for the long-term success of the Company.

The primary function of the Board is to provide effective leadership and direction to enhance the long-term value
of the Group to the Company's shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets the overall strategy for the
Company, oversees the business affairs of the Group and ensures proper accountability within the Group. The
Board has the overall responsibility for reviewing the strategic plans and performance objectives, financial plans,
key operating initiatives, major funding and investment proposals, financial performance reviews and corporate
governance practices. All Directors exercise due care in discharging their duties and responsibilities and are obliged
to act in good faith and consider at all times the interests of the Company.

In addition, the principal duties of the Board include:

° Providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting the Group's strategic objectives and ensuring that the necessary
financial and human resources are in place for the Group to meet its objectives.

° Overseeing the process for evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, risk management,
financial reporting and compliance to safeguard shareholders’ interest and the Company'’s assets.

° Reviewing the performance of management and overseeing succession planning for management.

° Identifying the key stakeholder groups and recognise that their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation.

° Setting the Group’s values and standards (including ethical standards) and ensuring proper accountability
within the Company and that the obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and
met.

° Considering sustainability issues as part of the strategic formulation.

Code of Ethics and Independent Judgement

The Board adopted a set of ethical values and standards which establishes the fundamental principles of
professional and ethical conduct expected of the Directors in the performance of their duties. Each Director is
required to promptly disclose any conflicts or potential conflicts of interest, whether direct or indirect, in relation to
any transaction or matter discussed and contemplated by the Group. Where a potential conflict of interest arises,
the Director concerned will recuse himself/herself from discussions and decisions involving the issue of conflict
and refrain from exercising any influence over other members of the Board in respect of the issue. In addition, the
Company has in place procedures for Directors to give general notice of any interests in any corporation or firm, in
order to anticipate possible conflicts of interest between the Director and the Group. This procedure is conducted
annually, prompting Directors to update any change in interests and/or confirm its previous disclosures. The
Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgement and make decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Group.
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Governance

The current members of the Board and their membership on the board committees of the Company are as follows:

Directors Board Membership Audit Nominating | Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee

Mr Michael Wong* Non-Executive Non- o . o
Independent Chairman
and Director

Mr Tang Hee Sung” Non-Executive Director . Member .

Ms Lee Pei Fang™ Executive Director . . .

(Ms Gina Lee)

Mr Aw Eng Hai" Lead Independent Chairman Member Member
Non-Executive Director

Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Independent Member Chairman Chairman

Howard" Non-Executive Director

Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng” | Independent Member Member Member
Non-Executive Director

# Redesignated to Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman and Director on 16 November 2023
* Appointed on 29 November 2023

™ Appointed on 1 November 2023

" Appointed on 25 October 2023

Currently, the Board comprises six members. There is a strong and independent element on the Company’s Board.
Of the six members, three are Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Induction and Training of Directors

The Board recognises the importance of appropriate orientation training and continuing education for its
directors. The Board ensures that incoming new Directors are given guidance and orientation (including onsite
visits, if necessary) to get familiarised with the Group's business and corporate governance practices upon their
appointment and to facilitate the effective discharge of their duties. Newly appointed Directors will be provided
a formal letter setting out their duties and obligations. If a newly appointed Director does not have any prior
experience as a director of a listed company, the Company will arrange for such person to undertake training in
the roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed company and to familiarise such person with the relevant rules
and regulations governing a listed company. Directors are encouraged to constantly keep abreast of developments
in regulatory, legal and accounting frameworks that are of relevance to the Group through the extension of
opportunities for participation in training courses, seminars and workshops as relevant and/or applicable.

In accordance with Rule 406(3)(a) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(the “SGX-ST”) Section B: Rules of Catalist (“Catalist Rules”), the Nominating Committee (“NC") will ensure that any
new director appointed by the Board, who has no prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the SGX-ST,
must undergo mandatory training in the roles and responsibilities of a director as prescribed by the SGX-ST.
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Corporate
Governance

As at the date of this Report, there were changes to the Board of Directors as follows:-

Name Board Membership Date
Mr Michael Wong Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman Redesignated to Non-Executive
Non-Independent Chairman from
16 November 2023
Mr Aw Eng Hai Lead Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed on 25 October 2023
Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard | Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed on 25 October 2023
Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed on 25 October 2023
Ms Gina Lee Executive Director Appointed on 1 November 2023
Mr Wu Chiaw Ching Independent Non-Executive Director Resigned on 14 November 2023
Mr Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh Independent Non-Executive Director Resigned on 14 November 2023
Mr Tan Soon Liang Independent Non-Executive Director Resigned on 14 November 2023
Mr Tang Hee Sung Non-Executive Non-Independent Director Appointed on 29 November 2023

The Company has arranged for Mr Michael Wong, Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng, Mr Tang Hee Sung and Ms Gina Lee
to attend the relevant training on the roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the
SGX-ST in March 2024.

Briefings, Updates and Trainings Provided for Directors in FY2023

The NC reviews and makes recommendations on the training and professional development programmes to the
Board.

The Group has an open policy for professional training for all the Board members, including the Executive Director
and Independent Directors. The Company endorses the Singapore Institute of Directors (“SID") training programmes
and sets a budget for such training and professional development programmes. All Board members are encouraged
to attend relevant training organisation by the SID or any other organisation which provides relevant training
courses for Directors. The cost of such training will be borne by the Company.

On a half-yearly basis, the Board is briefed on recent changes to the accounting standards and regulatory updates.
The Chief Executive Officer or Executive Director updates the Board at each meeting on business and strategic
developments of the Group.

As part of the Company's continuing education for Directors, the Company Secretary circulates to the Board articles,
reports and press releases relevant to the Group’s business to keep Directors updated on current industry trends

and issues. News releases issued by the SGX-ST and the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority which are
relevant to the Directors are also circulated to the Board.

Board's Approval

Matters specifically reserved for the Board's approval are listed below:

° Strategies and objectives of the Group;

° Announcement of half-year and full year financial results and release of annual reports;
° Issuance of shares;

° Declaration of interim dividends and proposal of final dividends;

° Convening of shareholders’ meetings;

° Material investments, divestments or capital expenditure;
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° Commitments to term loans and lines of credits from banks and financial institutions; and

° Interested person transactions.
Clear directions have been imposed on management that the above matters must be approved by the Board.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated certain functions to various board committees, namely the Audit Committee (“AC"),
Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC"). Each of the various board committees has its
own written terms of reference and whose actions are reported to and monitored by the Board. The Board accepts
that while these various board committees have the authority to examine particular issues and will report back
to the Board with their decisions and/or recommendations, the ultimate responsibility on all matters lies with the
Board.

Key Features of Board Processes

The dates of Board and board committee meetings as well as annual general meetings (“AGMSs") are scheduled in
advance. To assist Directors in planning their attendance, the Company Secretary consults every Director before
fixing the dates of these meetings. The Board meets at least two times a year and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Ad hoc meetings are also convened to deliberate on urgent substantive matters. Telephonic
attendance and conference via audio-visual communication at Board and board committee meetings are allowed
under the Company’s Constitution. The details of the number of Board and board committee meetings held in the
financial year as well as the attendance of each board member at those meetings are disclosed below.

Directors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings in FY2023

Board Audit Nominating Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
Directors No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of

Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings | Meetings
Held” | Attended | Held™ | Attended | Held™ |Attended| Held™® |Attended

Mr Michael Wong* 3 3 2 2@ 1 1 1 1@
Mr Wu Chiaw Ching** 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1
Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh* 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1
Mr Tan Soon Liang* 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1

# Redesignated to Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman on 16 November 2023 and ceased to be a member of the
Nominating Committee from 15 November 2023

# Resigned on 14 November 2023

Notes:

(1)  Represents the number of meetings held as applicable to each individual Director.

(2)  Attendance at meetings on a “By Invitation” basis.

Multiple Directorships

All Directors are required to declare their board appointments. When a Director has multiple board representations,
the NC will consider whether the Director is able to adequately carry out his/her duties as a Director of the
Company, taking into consideration the Director's number of listed company board representations and other
principal commitments. The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that notwithstanding multiple board appointments,
the Directors have been able to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company to adequately
discharge their duties as Director of the Company. Please refer to Principle 4 for further disclosure in relation to
multiple board representations.
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Access to Information

Each Director is given access to the Board resources, including the Company’s constitutional and governing
documents, terms of references of the Board and the board committees, the Group’s policy, annual reports, Board
meeting papers and other pertinent information for his/her reference. Management ensures that all Directors are
furnished on an on-going basis with relevant, complete, adequate and timely information concerning the Group,
to enable them to make informed decisions and discharge their duties and responsibilities. Prior to each Board
meeting, board papers and files are circulated for each meeting and the Board is provided with relevant background
or explanatory information relating to the business of the meeting and information on major operational, financial
and corporate issues. This is to give the Directors sufficient time to review and consider the matters being tabled
and/or discussed. Any other matters may also be tabled at the Board meeting and discussed without papers being
distributed. The business/projects updates with information on financial, operating and corporate issues, the
explanations on the financial information, and the rationale for the key decisions taken by the management may
also be made in the form of presentations by the management in attendance at the meetings. The Directors are
entitled to request additional information as needed to make informed decisions. Management is invited to attend
Board meetings to provide additional insights into matters being discussed, and to respond to any queries that the
Directors may have.

Access to Management and Company Secretary

The Directors have separate and independent access to the management, and the Company Secretary and where
it is necessary for the Directors to seek independent professional advice to effectively discharge their duties, the
Directors can, whether as a group or individually, seek the requisite advice at the Company’s expense.

The Company Secretary is responsible for, among other things, ensuring that the Board's procedures are observed
and the Company’s Constitution, relevant rules and regulations, including requirements of the Securities and Futures
Act, Companies Act and Catalist Rules, are complied with. The Company Secretary also assists the Chairman and the
Board in implementing and strengthening corporate governance practices and processes, with a view to enhancing
long-term shareholder value, as well as assisting the Chairman in ensuring good information flows within the Board
and its board committees and between management and the Non-Executive Independent Directors.

The Company Secretary or her representative attends and prepares minutes for all Board and board committee
meetings. As secretary for all board committees, the Company Secretary assists in ensuring coordination and liaison
between the Board, the board committees and management. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the
Board, the Chairman of board committees and management in the development of the agendas for the various
Board and board committee meetings.

The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary is subject to the Board's approval as a whole.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its
composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company.

Board Size, Composition and Diversity

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises six Directors, three Independent Non-Executive Directors
(the “Independent Non-Executive Directors” or the “Independent Directors” or each the “Independent
Non-Executive Director” or the “Independent Director”), two Non-Executive Non-Independent Directors (the
“Non-Executive Directors” or each the “Non-Executive Director”), and one Executive Director (the “Executive
Director”).

The NC is tasked to determine on an annual basis and as and when the circumstances require whether or not a
Director is independent, bearing in mind the provisions set forth under Provision 2.1 of the Code and any other
salient factor which would render a Director to be deemed not independent. The NC has reviewed, determined and
confirmed the independence of the Independent Directors. More details are set out under Principle 4 of the Code.
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Currently, while Non-Executive Directors make up a majority of the Board, the Independent Directors did not make
up a majority of the Board where Chairman is not independent as per the requirement set out under Provision 2.2
of the Code. The Board is satisfied and assured that no individual or group of Directors has unfettered powers of
decision, having considered the following:

(i) Five out of six directors are non-executive, making up majority of the Board, which satisfies the requirements
of Provision 2.3 of the Code;

(i) As Independent Directors make up half of the Board, there is a strong independent element on the Board and
no individual or groups of individuals dominate the Board's decision-making process;

(iii)  The Independent Directors provide the Board with independent and objective judgment on the corporate
affairs of the Group and together with the Non-Executive Directors, have the necessary experience and
expertise to assist the Board in decision-making and to provide a check and balance to the Board as they are
not involved in the day-to-day operations of the Company and the Group; and

(iv)  The Board has a Lead Independent Director who plays an additional facilitative role within the Board, and
where necessary, facilitates communication between the Board and shareholders or other stakeholders of the
Company.

In FY2023, Independent Directors made up more than half of the Board which meets the requirements set out under
Provision 2.2 and Provision 2.3 of the Code.

The Board is committed that a diverse Board will help improve the overall performance and operational capability of
the Company, ensuring that the decisions made by the Board have been considered from a range of viewpoints. The
Board has adopted a Board diversity policy and the measurable objectives identified include:

1. In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a wide range of aspects,
including but not limited to age, gender, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant and applicable from time to time. Directors with technical, legal, financial, marketing, management
and audit background will provide various extensive business experiences to the Company. High emphasis
is placed on ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board level in order to
provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenges that enable the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively, support good decision making in view of the core businesses and strategy of the
Group, and support succession planning and development of the Board.

2. For achieving an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives/specific diversity targets may be set and
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness. Such factors will be considered by the Company
based on its business model and specific needs and the ultimate decision will be based on merit, value and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

3. The Board is of the view that, while it is important to promote boardroom diversity in terms of gender, age
and ethnicity, the normal selection criteria based on an effective blend of competencies, skills, extensive
experience and knowledge to strengthen the Board should remain a priority. In addition to ensuring a
balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board, the Board has deliberated the following:

(a) Gender diversity

The Company does not set any specific target for female Directors in the Board but will work towards
continued inclusions of female directors for future board renewals, if opportunity arises. The Company
is committed to maintaining an environment of respect for people regardless of their gender in all
business dealings and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and discrimination on
the basis of gender, physical or mental state, ethnicity, nationality, religion, age or family status. The
same principle is applied to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board in order
to attract and retain women participation on the Board. As of the date of the Annual Report, the female
representation on the Board ratio has improved from 25% to 33%.
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(b)  Age diversity

The Company does not set any specific target for the boardroom age diversity but will work towards
having appropriate age diversity in the Board, if opportunity arises. The Company does not fix age limit
for its Directors given that such Directors are normally reputed and experienced in the corporate world
and could continue to contribute to the Board in steering the Company. The Board is fully committed
to promoting age, diversity, valuing the contribution of its members regardless of age, and seek to
eliminate age stereotyping and discrimination on age.

(c) Ethnic diversity

The Company does not set any specific target for ethnic diversity in the boardroom but will work
towards having appropriate ethnic diversity in the Board, if opportunity arises.

Taking into account the nature and scope of the Group’s business and the number of board committees, the Board
believes that the current size and composition provide sufficient diversity without interfering with efficient decision
making.

The Company is committed to implementing the Board Diversity Policy and will review this Policy periodically to
ensure its effectiveness and alignment with best practice and the requirements of the Code, or as amended from
time to time, and any other relevant legislation. Any progress made towards the implementation of this Policy will be
disclosed in future Corporate Governance Reports of the Company, as appropriate.

Role of the Non-Executive Directors

The Board and management fully appreciate that an effective and robust Board whose members engage in open
and constructive debate and challenge management on its assumptions and proposals, is fundamental to good
corporate governance. A Board should also aid in the development of strategic proposals and oversee effective
implementation by management to achieve agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance.
For this to happen, the Board and Non-Executive Directors, in particular, must be kept well informed of the Group's
business and be knowledgeable about the industry the Group operates in.

To ensure that the Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors are well supported by accurate, complete
and timely information, they have unrestricted access to management.

The Group has also adopted initiatives to put in place processes to ensure that the Independent Directors and
Non-Executive Directors have sufficient time and resources to discharge their oversight function effectively. These
initiatives include:

° Regular informal meetings are held by management to brief the Independent Directors and Non-Executive
Directors on prospective deals and potential developments at an early stage, before formal Board approval is
sought.

° The Company has also made available on the Company’'s premises an office for use by the Independent
Directors and Non-Executive Directors at any time for them to meet regularly without the presence of
management.

The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors, led by the Lead Independent Director, meet amongst
themselves without the presence of the Executive Director and management where necessary, to discuss matters
such as the performance of management, the Group's financial performance, corporate governance initiatives,
succession planning and the remuneration of Executive Director and key management personnel and any matters
of concern. The Lead Independent Director will provide feedback to the Chairman or the Board after such meetings.
The Independent Directors met once among themselves without the Executive Director and management during
FY2023.
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Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, and no
one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

The Code advocates that there should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board
and the executives responsible for managing the Group’s business and no one individual should represent a
considerable concentration of power.

Mr Michael Wong was the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") of the Board for FY2023.

As Chairman, Mr Michael Wong leads the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role; assumes
responsibility for the smooth functioning of the Board and ensures adequate and timely flow of information
between management and the Board; sets the agenda and ensures that adequate time is available for discussion
of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues; facilitates the effective contribution of Independent Directors and
Non-Executive Directors; promotes a culture of openness and debate at the Board; ensures effective communication
with shareholders; encourages constructive relations within the Board and between Board and management and
promotes high standards of corporate governance.

As at FY2023, as CEO, Mr Michael Wong as CEO assumed responsibility for running the day-to-day business of
the Group; ensures implementation of policies and strategy across the Group as set by the Board; managed the
management team; and leads the development of the Group’s future strategy including identifying and assessing
risks and opportunities for the growth of its business and reviewing the performance of its existing business.

In FY2023, prior to Mr Michael Wong's cessation as CEO on 15 November 2023 and redesignation to Non-Executive
Non-Independent Director on 16 November 2023, the Company did not comply with Provision 3.1 of the Code as the
Board is was of the view that it is not necessary to separate the role of the Chairman and the CEO after taking into
consideration the size, scope and the nature of the operations of the Group. Mr Michael Wong is the founder of the
Group and has played an instrumental role in developing the business since its establishment. He has considerable
industry experience and business network and has also provided the Group with strong leadership and vision. The
Board was of the view that it was in the interest of the Group to adopt a single leadership structure.

The Company has complied with Provision 3.2 of the Code as the responsibilities of the CEO are set out separately in
a service agreement entered into between the Company and the CEO.

The Board was also of the view that there is a sufficiently strong independent element on the Board to enable
independent exercise of objective judgement on affairs and operations of the Group by members of the Board,
taking into account factors such as the number of Independent Directors on the Board as well as the contributions
made by each member at meetings which relate to the affairs and operations of the Group. Accordingly, the Board
was satisfied that one person is able to effectively discharge the duties of both positions.

Mr Michael Wong stepped down as the CEO with effect from 15 November 2023 and redesignated to Non-Executive
Chairman with effect from 16 November 2023.

Ms Gina Lee was appointed as the Executive Director on 1 November 2023. As the Executive Director, Ms Gina
Lee assumes responsibility for running the day-to-day business of the Group as well as overseeing the business
expansion and the strategic business direction of the Group.

In line with Provision 3.3. of the Code, the Board has also appointed Mr Wu Chiaw Ching as the Lead Independent
Director to co-ordinate and lead the Independent Directors to provide a non-executive perspective and contribute
to a balance of viewpoints on the Board, and to provide leadership in situations where the Chairman is conflicted.
He is the principal liaison on board issues between the Independent Directors and the Chairman. He is available to
shareholders where they have concerns, and for which contact through the normal channels via the Chairman and
CEO, and/or Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO") has failed to provide satisfactory resolution, or when such contact is
inappropriate or inadequate.
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Mr Aw Eng Hai was appointed as the Lead Independent Director on 25 October 2023 in place of Mr Wu Chiaw Ching.

All the board committees are chaired by Independent Directors and in FY2023, a majority of the Board consists of
Independent Directors.

Principle 4: Board Membership

The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors,
taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

NC Composition

In FY2023, the NC consists of three Independent Non-Executive Directors (including the Lead Independent Director)
and one Executive Director for FY2023. The majority of NC members, including the NC Chairman, are independent:

FY2023

Mr Tan Soon Liang## - Chairman

Mr Wu Chiaw Ching# - Member

Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh® - Member
Mr Michael Wong*- Member

# Resigned on 14 November 2023
# Ceased as a member of the NC on 15 November 2023

As at the date of this report, the NC currently comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors (including
the Lead Independent Director) and one Non-Executive Director. The majority of NC members, including the NC
Chairman, are independent:

Subsequent to FY2023

Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard" - Chairman
Mr Aw Eng Hai" - Member

Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng" - Member

Mr Tang Hee Sung® - Member

" Appointed on 25 October 2023
* Appointed on 29 November 2023

The NC, which has written terms of reference, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on all board
appointments and re-appointments. The key terms of reference of the NC include the following:

° review the size, structure and composition of the Board;

° identify, review and recommend candidates to the Board including the appointment of alternate directors, if
any, board committee members, CEO, deputy CEO, CFO and key management;

° recommend to the Board re-nominations of existing directors for re-election in accordance with the
Company's Constitution, taking into account the Director's competencies, commitment, contribution and
performance;

° establish a process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors;

° review and approve any new employment of employees related to the Directors, substantial shareholders of

the Company or related persons, including the proposed terms of such employment;
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° undertake board succession plans for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the CEO;
° determine annually whether or not a Director is independent;
° in respect of a Director who has multiple board representations on various companies, if any, to review and

decide whether or not such Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director,
having regard to the competing time commitments that are faced by the Director when serving on multiple
boards and discharging his duties towards other principal commitments;

° review training and professional development programmes for the Board;

° make recommendation to the Board in determining the maximum number of listed company board
representations which any Director may hold, and disclose this in the Company’'s annual report;

° decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director;

° develop a process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its board committees and Directors by setting
objective performance criteria for the Board and implementing such process for assessing the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and assessing the contribution of each individual Directors to the effectiveness of the

Board; and

° ensure complete disclosure of key information of Directors in the Company’s annual report as required under
the Code, as amended from time to time.

Each member of the NC abstains from voting on any resolutions and making any recommendation and/or
participating in discussion on matters in which he is interested.

Process for Selection and Appointment of New Directors

The NC has put in place formal and written procedures for making recommendations to the Board on the selection
and appointment of Directors. Such procedures would be activated when a vacancy on the Board arises or when the
Board is considering making a new Board appointment either to enhance the core competency of the Board or for
purpose of progressive renewal of the Board. In FY2023, notwithstanding that the Chairman of the Board was an
Executive Director, the Company maintained a very strong and independent element on the Board with Independent
Directors making up more than half of the Board.

In identifying suitable candidates, the NC will consider the current Board composition and the desired competencies
of the new Board member with an aim to achieve board diversity and may use any of the following channels:

0] advertise or use services of external advisors to facilitate a search;

(ii) approach alternative sources such as the SID; and

(iii)  consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds from internal or external sources.
After shortlisting the candidates, the NC shall:

(a) consider and interview all candidates on merit against objective criteria, taking into consideration that
appointees have enough time available to devote to the position; and

(b) evaluate and agree to a preferred candidate for recommendation to and appointment by the Board.
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Independence Review of Directors

The task of assessing the independence of the Directors is delegated to the NC. The NC reviews the independence of
each Director annually, and as and when circumstances require.

Annually, each Independent Director is required to complete a Director’'s Independence Checklist/Declaration (the
“Independence Checklist”) to confirm his/her independence. The Independence Checklist is drawn up based on
the guidelines provided in the Code. Thereafter, the NC reviews the Independence Checklist completed by each
Independent Director, assess the independence of the Independent Directors and recommends its assessment to
the Board.

As set out under Provision 2.1 of the Code, an independent director is one who is independent in conduct, character
and judgement, and has no relationship with the company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders
or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s
independent business judgement in the best interests of the company. The NC assesses and reviews annually the
independence of a Director bearing in mind the salient factors as set out under the Code, the Catalist Rules as well
as all other relevant circumstances and facts. The Independent Directors must also confirm whether they consider
themselves independent despite not having any relationship identified in the Code.

For the purpose of Provision 4.4 of the Code and as at the date of this Annual Report, based on the Independence
Checklist submitted by each of the Independent Directors, none of Mr Aw Eng Hai, Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard
and Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng has any relationship or circumstance as described in the Code which may affect or be
perceived to affect their independence, specifically:

(a) The Independent Directors: (i) are not employed by the Company or any of its related corporations for the
current or any of the past three (3) financial years; and (ii) do not have an immediate family member who
is employed or has been employed by the Company or any of its related corporations for the past three (3)
financial years, and whose remuneration is determined by the Remuneration Committee.

(b) None of the Independent Directors have served on the Board beyond nine (9) years from the date of first
appointment.

(c) None of the Independent Directors and their immediate family members had in the current or immediate
past financial year (i) provided or received significant payments or material services aggregated over any
financial year in excess of S$50,000 for services other than compensation for board service; or (ii) was
a substantial shareholder, partner, executive officer or a director of any organisation which provided or
received significant payments or material services aggregated over any financial year in excess of $S$200,000
for services rendered.

(d) None of the Independent Directors are directly associated with a substantial shareholder of the Company in
the current or immediate past financial year.

Accordingly, the NC is of the view that the aforementioned directors are independent.

Process for Re-appointment of Directors

The NC is responsible for re-appointment of Directors. In its deliberations on the re-appointment of existing
Directors, the NC takes into consideration the Director’s contribution and performance.

All Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment at regular intervals of at least once every
three years. Regulation 114 of the Company's Constitution provides that one-third of the Directors (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not lesser than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation while Regulation 118 provides that any Director so appointed shall hold office until the next AGM and be
eligible for re-election at the Company's AGM.
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Mr Michael Wong Lok Yung shall retire pursuant to Regulation 114 of the Company's Constitution at the Company's
forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible for re-election.

Mr Tang Hee Sung, Ms Gina Lee, Mr Aw Eng Hai, Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard and Ms Doreen Lai shall retire
pursuant to Regulation 118 of the Company's Constitution at the Company’s forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible
for re-election.

The NC is satisfied that Mr Aw Eng Hai, Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard and Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng who are
retiring at the forthcoming AGM are properly qualified for re-appointment by virtue of their skills, experience and
contribution of guidance and time to the Board's deliberations.

Please refer to pages 69 to 84 in the Annual Report for detailed information required pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the
Catalist Rules (as defined herein).

Directors' Time Commitments

The NC has adopted internal guidelines addressing competing time commitments that are faced when Directors
serve on multiple boards. These guidelines provide that, as a general rule, each Director should hold no more than
six listed company board representations.

The NC determines annually whether a Director with multiple board representations and/or other principal
commitments is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director of the Company. The NC
takes into account the respective Directors' actual conduct on the Board in making this determination.

The NC has reviewed and was satisfied that in FY2023, notwithstanding their multiple directorships and principal
commitments, Mr Wu Chiaw Ching, Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh and Mr Tan Soon Liang who held multiple listed
company board representations, have been able to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group
to adequately discharge their duties as Directors of the Company. None of the Directors held more than six listed
company board representations and the NC was of the view that each Director has diligently discharged his/her
duties adequately.

The NC has also reviewed and was satisfied that Mr Aw Eng Hai and Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard who were
appointed on 25 October 2023 and held multiple listed company board representations, have been able to devote
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group to adequately discharge their duties as Directors of the
Company. None of the Directors currently hold more than six listed company board representations.

Alternate Directors

The Company does not have any alternate Director on the Board.

Succession Planning for the Board and the Management

Currently, the Company does not have any formal succession plan for the CEO role . The NC seeks to evaluate
available options in close consultation with the Non-Executive Chairman and the Executive Director, and develop
such plan over time to ensure business continuity. Meanwhile, the Executive Director is responsible for the day-to-
day business operation and overseeing the business expansion and the strategic business direction of the Group.

Principle 5: Board Performance

The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of its
board committees and individual directors.

The Board has implemented a process carried out by the NC for assessing the effectiveness of: (i) the Board as a
whole, (ii) each of the Board committees; and (iii) contribution by each individual Director to the Board.
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Board Evaluation Process

A review of the performance of the Board and Board committees as well as that of individual Director is conducted
by the NC annually. On the recommendation of the NC, the Board has adopted performance criteria and an internal
process for evaluating the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and Board committee, and the contribution of each
individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company Secretary sends out the Board’'s and Board committees’ Evaluation Questionnaires (the
“Questionnaires”) and an Individual Director Assessment Checklist (the “Assessment Checklist”) to each Director
for completion.

The performance criteria of the Board, Board committees and individual Directors includes board size and
composition, board independence, board processes, board information and accountability, board performance
in relation to discharging its principal functions and Board committee’s performance in relation to discharging
their responsibilities set out in their respective terms of reference. The Assessment Checklist is a self-assessment
evaluation to assess the contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The individual
Director’s performance criteria include his/her knowledge, commitment to the role and overall contribution to the
effectiveness of the Board.

The completed Questionnaires and Assessment Checklists are submitted to the Company Secretary for collation
and the consolidated responses are presented to the NC for review before submitting to the Board for discussion
and determining areas for improvement and enhancing the effectiveness of the Board. The NC Chairman will act on
the results of the performance evaluation and, in consultation with the NC, will propose, where appropriate, new
members to be appointed to the Board or seek resignation of Directors.

For the financial year under review, given most of the Board members were newly appointed, the NC agreed that the
evaluation assessment for Board, Board committees and individual Directors will be carried out for the financial year
ending 30 September 2024.

The Board has not engaged any external consultant to conduct any assessment of the effectiveness of the Board
and the contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. Where relevant, the NC will
consider such an engagement.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
Principle 6: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive

remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management
personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

RC Composition

The RC consists of three members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors:

FY2023

Mr Tan Soon Liang# - Chairman

Mr Wu Chiaw Ching# - Member

Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh® - Member

## Resigned on 14 November 2023
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Subsequent to FY2023

Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard" - Chairman
Mr Aw Eng Hai" - Member
Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng" - Member

" Appointed on 25 October 2023

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on executive
remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and key management personnel.

The members of the RC carry out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference which include the following:

Review and recommend to the Board for endorsement, a framework of remuneration for the Board and
key management personnel. The framework covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited
to Director's fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share-based incentives and awards and benefits in
kind.

Review and recommend to the Board the specific remuneration packages for each Director as well as for key
management personnel.

Review the level and structure of remuneration to align with the long-term interest and risk policies of the
Company in order to attract, retain and motivate the Directors and key management personnel.

Review the Group’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive Director’'s and key
management personnel’s contracts of service to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and
reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous.

In reviewing and making recommendations for remuneration for the Board and key management personnel,
the RC shall consider amongst others:

- level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of
the Company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide
good stewardship of the Company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the
Company;

- the use of long-term incentive schemes for the Executive Director and key management personnel;

- that the remuneration of Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors should be appropriate to
the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities
of the Directors. Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors should not be overcompensated
to the extent that their independence may be compromised;

- the use of contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of
remuneration from the Executive Director and key management personnel in exceptional
circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the
Company; and

- the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive Director and key
management personnel's contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and
reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous. The Company should aim to be fair and
avoid rewarding poor performance.

The RC, where necessary, may seek advice from external remuneration consultants in framing the remuneration
policy and determining the level and mix of remuneration for Directors and key management personnel. The Board
has not engaged any external remuneration consultant to advise on remuneration matters for FY2023.
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None of the members of the RC or any Director is involved in deliberations in respect of any remuneration,
compensation or any form of benefits to be granted to him/her.

Principle 7: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are appropriate and
proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, taking into account the
strategic objectives of the company.

As part of its review, the RC ensures that the Directors and key management personnel are adequately but not
excessively remunerated as compared to industry benchmarks and other comparable companies. The RC also
takes into consideration the Group's relative performance and the performance of individual Directors and key
management personnel. The Executive Director does not receive Director's fee. The remuneration packages of the
Executive Director comprise primarily a basic salary component and a variable component, which are the bonuses
and other benefits.

Key management personnel are paid a basic salary and variable bonus. The variable bonus is payable based on both
qualitative and quantitative performance criteria. Qualitative criteria include leadership skills, people development,
commitment and teamwork. Quantitative performance conditions measure the achievement of individual and
corporate performance targets such as sales and profitability targets. Performance-related remuneration is aligned
with the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders and promotes the long-term success of the Company.

The RC also ensures that the remuneration of the Independent Directors and/or Non-Executive Directors and/or
Non-Executive Directors is appropriate to their level of contributions taking into account factors such as efforts and
time spent, and their responsibilities. Other than the Directors’ fees, the Independent Non-Executive Directors and/
or Non-Exeuctive Directors do not receive any other forms of remuneration from the Company. The RC ensures
that the Independent Directors should not be over-compensated to the extent that their independence may be
compromised. No Director shall participate in decisions on his own remuneration.

The RC, with the concurrence of the Board, has recommended that an amount of $S$200,000 as Directors’ fees be
paid to the Independent Directors and/or Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ending 30 September 2024.
These fees will be tabled for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

All revisions to the remuneration packages for the Directors and key management personnel are subject to the
review by and approval of the Board. Directors’ fees are further subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
AGM.

Having reviewed and considered the fixed and variable components of the remuneration packages for the Executive
Director and key management personnel, which are moderate, the RC is of the view that there is no need to institute
contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components in exceptional circumstances of
misstatement of financial results, or misconduct resulting in financial loss or fraud by the Executive Director and key
management personnel. The Company believes that there are alternative legal avenues to these specific contractual
provisions that will enable the Company to recover financial losses arising from such exceptional events from
the Executive Director and key management personnel. The remuneration of Directors is appropriate to attract,
retain and motivate the Directors to provide good stewardship of the Company and key management personnel to
successfully manage the Company for the long term.

The Company had no long-term incentive schemes in place during FY2023.
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Principle 8: Disclosure of Remuneration

The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for
setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation.

Provision 8.1 of the Code recommends that companies fully disclose the name and remuneration of each individual
Director and the CEO. The Board supports and is aware of the need for transparency. However, after deliberation
and debate, due to the confidential and sensitive nature of remuneration, the highly competitive business
environment the Group operates in, competitive pressures in the talent market and the potential negative impact
such disclosure may have on the Group, the Board is of the view that full disclosure of the specific remuneration
of individual Director and the Group's key management personnel is not in the best interests of the Company. The
Company has chosen to disclose a breakdown showing the level and mix of remuneration of the individual directors
and CEO in narrower bands for FY2023, with the view that such disclosures would provide adequate information
on the remuneration policies and practice of the Group while maintaining the confidentiality of the Directors’
remuneration matters.

Remuneration Band and Salary Bonus Fees Other Total
Name of Director ® Benefits

% % % % %
$$600,001 to S$700,000
Mr Michael Wong @ 86 14 - - 100
Up to $$50,000
Mr Wu Chiaw Ching## - - 100 - 100
Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh# - - 100 - 100
Mr Tan Soon Liang® - - 100 - 100

## Resigned on 14 November 2023

Notes:

(1)  The remuneration disclosed in the table above includes all forms of remuneration from the Company and its subsidiaries.
In deciding whether an item or benefit is to be included in the remuneration, regard has been given to the taxability of such
item.

(2)  Mr Michael Wong is the Chairman and was the CEO of the Company in FY2023.

The service agreement between the Company and Mr Michael Wong in relation to his appointment as CEO was last
renewed commencing on 19 April 2022 for a period of three years. Mr Michael Wong was redesignated to Non-
Executive Chairman on 16 November 2023 and his service agreement has since terminated.

During FY2023, the amount of Directors’ fees paid to the Non-Executive Directors were as follows:

Name Amount
Mr Wu Chiaw Ching $$50,000
Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh S$40,000
Mr Tan Soon Liang S$40,000

Provision 8.1 of the Code also recommends that companies disclose the name and remuneration of at least the top
five key management personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO) in bands no wider than $S$250,000. In addition,
companies should disclose the aggregate of the total remuneration paid or payable to the top five key management
personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO).
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The Board has identified that the Company had four key management personnel (excluding the CEO) in FY2023. The
breakdown showing the level and mix of remuneration of each of these top four key management personnel (who
are not Directors or the CEO) in bands of S$250,000 for FY2023 is set out below.

Remuneration Band and Name of Executive Salary Bonus Bgrtll:il;s Total
% % % %

Up to $$250,000

Ms Gina Lee™ 92 1 7 100

Ms Goh Joo San®@ 100 - - 100

Mr Leow Chyan 91 1 8 100

Ms Lim Lay Khime® 99 1 - 100

“* Appointed as Executive Director on 1 November 2023
@ Appointed as CFO on 29 September 2023
@@ Resigned as Financial Controller on 27 July 2023

Note:

(1)  The remuneration disclosed in the table above includes all forms of remuneration from the Company and its subsidiaries.
In deciding whether an item or benefit is to be included in the remuneration, regard has been given to the taxability of such
item.

S$

Aggregate of the total remuneration paid or payable to the top four key management personnel
(who are not Directors or the CEQ)

418,762

In FY2023, Mr Michael Wong is the Controlling Shareholder of the Company and also the Chairman and CEO and his
remuneration details are disclosed above in bands no wider than S$100,000. Save as aforementioned, the Company
does not have any employee who is a substantial shareholder of the Company, or is an immediate family member of
a Director or the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the Company, and whose remuneration exceeded S$100,000 in
FY2023.

The Directors, the Chairman and CEO and key management personal are not entitled to any benefits upon
termination, retirement or post-employment. The Company currently does not have any share option scheme or
performance share plan.

Further information on the Directors and key management personnel is on pages 10 to 13 of this Annual Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Principle 9: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a sound system
of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the company and its shareholders.

The Board, with the assistance from the AC, is responsible for the governance of risk by ensuring that management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the
Group's assets. The Board determines the nature and extent of the significant risks which it is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives. Having considered the Group’s business operations as well as its existing risk
management and internal control systems, the Board is of the view that a separate risk committee is not required
for the time being.
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The AC is responsible for making the necessary recommendations to the Board to form and provide an opinion
regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
in the annual report of the Company according to the requirements in the Catalist Rules and the Code. The AC,
with the assistance of KPMG Services Pte Ltd ("KPMG"), reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems focusing on financial, operational, compliance and information
technology controls. Risk workshops are carried out with the risk owners to identify, assess and prioritise these
risks. Mitigating actions in managing the key risks, as well as action plans to address the gaps, are considered and
documented.

The internal audit function was outsourced to KPMG (the “Internal Auditor”) in FY2023. The Internal Auditor is one
of the largest accounting firms in Singapore that has been established in Singapore since 1941. The engagement
team is led by the engagement partner who has significant years of experience in governance, risk management,
internal audit and accounting and is a Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants
(“ISCA") and Certified Internal Auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors (“llA"). The engagement team consists
of managers and team members who possess relevant experience as well as designations such as Chartered
Accountant and Certified Internal Auditor.

The Internal Auditor is independent of the activities it audits. The methodology adopted by the Internal Auditor
conforms to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the IIA.

The AC is satisfied that the Internal Auditor is independent and has adequate resources to perform its function
effectively.

During FY2023, KPMG has conducted reviews on sales and credit management, production and inventory
management and risk mitigation review.

All significant matters are highlighted to the AC and the Board for further discussion. The AC and the Board also
work with the internal auditors, external auditors and management on their recommendations to institute and
execute relevant controls with a view to managing such risks.

Assurance from the Executive Director and the CFO / key management personnel

The Board has received written assurance from:

a) the former Executive Chairman and CEO (being Mr Michael Wong) and the CFO that the financial records of
the Group have been properly maintained and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023
give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances; and

b) the former Executive Chairman and CEO (being Mr Michael Wong), the CFO and other key management
personnel who are responsible, that the Group's risk management system and internal controls (including
financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls) are adequate and effective during
FY2023.

Comment on the Adequacy and Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The AC sought the views of the external auditors in making assessment of the internal controls over financial
reporting matters. Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, the work performed by
the internal auditors as well as the assurance received from the Executive Director and the CFO, the Board with the
concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, addressing
financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks were adequate and effective as at 30 September
2023.

The Board notes that the system of risk management and internal controls established by the Group provides
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be
reasonably foreseen. Furthermore, the Board also acknowledges that no system of risk management and internal
controls can provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material
errors, poor judgement in decision making, human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.
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Principle 10: Audit Committee

The Board has an AC which discharges its duties objectively.

AC Composition

The AC consists of three members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors:

FY2023

Mr Wu Chiaw Ching# - Chairman

Mr Tan Soon Liang# - Member

Ms Pebble Sia Huei-Chieh* - Member

## Resigned on 14 November 2023

As at 14 November 2023

Mr Aw Eng Hai" - Chairman
Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard" - Member
Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng" - Member

" Appointed on 25 October 2023

At least two members of the AC (including the Chairman of the AC) have recent and relevant accounting or related
financial management expertise or experience. The Board considers the members of the AC as having sufficient
financial knowledge and experience to discharge their responsibilities in the AC.

The AC does not comprise former partners or directors of the Company’s existing auditing firm, Deloitte & Touche
LLP and the members of the AC do not have any financial interests in Deloitte & Touche LLP.

The members of the AC carried out their duties in accordance with the written terms of reference which include the
following:

a)

Review the audit plans of the Company’s external auditors and internal auditors, including the results of the
external and internal auditors’ review and evaluation of the system of internal controls.

Review the scope and result of the external auditors’ reports.

Review with independent internal auditors the findings of their review report, internal control processes and
procedures, and make recommendations on the internal control processes and procedures to be adopted by
the Group.

Review and recommend to the Board the types of risks or risk appetite the Company undertakes to achieve
its business strategies. Oversee the risk management framework, policies and resources to manage and
report risks within the Company’s risk appetite.

Review and report to the Board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk
management systems.

Recommend to the Board on the opinion and disclosure in the annual report on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems in accordance with the Catalist
Rules and the Code.

Review the co-operation given by management to the external auditors and internal auditors, where
applicable.
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s)

Review the financial statements of the Company and the Group, and discuss any significant adjustments,
major risk areas, changes in accounting policies, compliance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International), concerns and issues arising from the audits including any matters which the auditors may
wish to discuss in the absence of management, where necessary, before their submission to the Board for
approval.

Review the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group and any announcements relating to the Company’s and the
Group's financial performance.

Receive and review a formal assurance from the Executive Director and the CFO on the financial records and
financial statements.

Review and discuss with auditors any suspected fraud, irregularity or infringement of any relevant laws, rules
or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results or financial
position and management's response.

Review the transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the Catalist Rules, if any.

Review any potential conflicts of interest and set out a framework to resolve or mitigate any potential conflicts
of interest.

Review the key financial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversight on the Group’s financial
reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or, where the findings are
material, announced immediately via SGXNet.

Review the independence of the external auditors and recommend their appointment or re-appointment,
remuneration and terms of engagement.

Review and approve foreign exchange hedging policies implemented by the Group and conduct periodic
review of foreign exchange transactions and hedging policies and procedures.

Undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its
findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC.

Review arrangements by which an employee may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting and to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent
investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow-up.

Undertake generally such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Catalist Rules, as
amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

Apart from the above, the AC shall:

t)

Commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters where there is any suspected
fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or suspected infringement of any Singapore law, rule or
regulation which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial
position.

Commission an annual internal control audit for the purposes of satisfying itself that the internal controls of
the Group have remained robust and effective. Upon the completion of an internal controls audit, the Board
shall make the appropriate disclosure via the SGXNet of any weaknesses in the Group's internal controls
which may be material or of a price-sensitive or trade-sensitive nature, as well as any follow-up actions to be
taken by the Board.
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The primary reporting line of the internal auditors is to the AC and the internal auditors have unfettered access to
all the Group's documents, records, properties and personnel. The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter
within its term of reference and is authorised to obtain independent professional advice. It also has full access to
and co-operation of management and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its duties properly. It also has
full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings.

Summary of the AC's Activities

The AC met two times during the financial year under review. Details of members and their attendance at meetings
are provided on page 46. The FC/CFO, Company Secretary, internal auditors and external auditors are invited to
these meetings. Other members of management are also invited to attend, as appropriate, to present reports.

The AC meets with the external auditors, and with the internal auditors, in each case without the presence of
management, at least annually. During FY2023, the AC had one meeting with the internal auditors and external
auditors separately, without the presence of management. These meetings enable the internal auditors and external
auditors to raise issues encountered in the course of their work directly to the AC.

The principal activities of the AC during the financial year are summarised below:

Financial Reporting

The AC met on a bi-annual basis and reviewed the half-year and full year announcements, material announcements
and all related disclosures to the shareholders before submission to the Board for approval. In the process, the AC
reviewed the audit plan and audit committee report presented by the external auditors.

The AC reviewed the annual financial statements and also discussed with management, the CFO and the external
auditors the significant accounting policies, judgements and estimates applied by management in preparing the
annual financial statements. The AC focused particularly on:

° Significant risks identified from the audit; and

° The appropriateness of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements.

Following the review and discussions, the AC then recommends to the Board for approval of the half-year and full
year financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

The AC has reviewed the Management's assessment and discussed with the external auditors about the identified
key audit matters (refer to pages 89 to 91 of this Annual Report) and how these key audit matters have been
addressed by the external auditors. Having considered the Management's assessment and the approach taken by
the external auditors and their findings, the AC is satisfied with the basis and estimates adopted by the Group.

External Audit Processes

The AC manages the relationship with the Group’s external auditors on behalf of the Board. The AC is of the view
that the external auditors demonstrated appropriate qualifications and expertise. It is also satisfied with the
adequacy of the scope and quality of the external audits being conducted by Deloitte & Touche LLP. Therefore,
the AC recommended to the Board that Deloitte & Touche LLP be re-appointed as the external auditors. The Board
accepted this recommendation and has proposed a resolution to shareholders for the re-appointment of Deloitte &
Touche LLP at the forthcoming AGM.

In appointing auditors for the Company and its subsidiaries, the Group has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the
Catalist Rules.
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Auditors’ Independence

In order to maintain the independence of the external auditors, the Group has specific policy which governs the
conduct of non-audit work performed by the external auditors. This policy prohibits the external auditors from:

° Performing services which would result in the auditing of their own work;

° Participating in activities normally undertaken by management;

° Acting as advocate for the Group; or

° Creating a mutuality of interest between the external auditors and the Group, for example being remunerated

through a success fee structure.
The AC undertook a review of the independence and objectivity of the external auditors through discussions with
the external auditors as well as reviewing the non-audit fees awarded to them. The AC received a half-yearly report
setting out the non-audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP and the fees charged. The aggregate amount
of fees paid to Deloitte & Touche LLP is S$143,150. The audit and non-audit fees paid or payable to the external
auditors for FY2023 were S$112,200 and S$30,950 respectively. The non-audit fees are charged for tax compliance
services that were rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Group in FY2023.
Having undertaken a review of the non-audit services provided during the financial year, the AC is satisfied that
the objectivity and independence of the external auditors are not in any way impaired by reason of the non-audit
services which they provided to the Group.
Internal Audit

During the financial year, the AC has reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the Group's system of internal controls
and regulatory compliance through discussion with management, internal auditors and external auditors.

The AC considered and reviewed with management and internal auditors on the following:

° Annual internal audit plans to ensure that the plans covered sufficiently a review of the internal controls of
the Group; and

° Significant internal audit observations and management's response thereto.
The AC has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function.

Interested Person Transactions

The AC reviews the Group's interested person transactions to ensure that the transactions were carried out on
normal commercial terms and were not prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its minority shareholders. On
a half-yearly basis, management reports to the AC the interested person transactions (if any).

There were no interested person transactions during the financial year under review.

The AC is satisfied that the internal controls over the identification, evaluation, review, approval and reporting of
interested person transactions were effective.
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Whistle Blowing

The Company has adopted a Whistle-Blowing Policy to provide a channel for employees of the Group to report in
good faith and in confidence their concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters. Any whistle-blowing issues can be reported to the Chairman of the AC, the Head of Human Resource
department or the CFO. The AC exercises the overseeing function over the administration of the Whistle-Blowing
Policy. It has a well-defined process which ensures independent investigation of issues / concerns raised and
appropriate follow-up action and provides assurance that employees will be protected from reprisal within the limits
of the law of victimisation for whistle-blowing in good faith, with their identity kept confidential. The Whistle-Blowing
Policy has been circulated to all employees.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT AND MANAGING STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS
Principle 11: Shareholders’ Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders’
rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the company.

The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position
and prospects.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining transparency and accountability to its shareholders. The Board
ensures that all the Company’s shareholders are treated equitably and the rights of all investors, including minority
shareholders are protected.

The Group is committed to providing shareholders with adequate, timely and sufficient information pertaining to
changes in the Group's business which may be price-sensitive or trade-sensitive.

The Group strongly encourages shareholder participation during its AGMs which are held in Singapore. Shareholders
are able to proactively engage the Board and management on the Group’s business activities, financial performance
and other business-related matters. All shareholders are entitled to vote in accordance with the established voting
rules and procedures. The Company conducts poll voting for all resolutions tabled at the general meetings. The
rules, including the voting procedures, will be clearly explained by the scrutineer at such general meetings. The
Company will employ electronic polling if necessary.

Separate resolutions on each distinct issue are tabled at general meetings and explanatory notes are set out in the
notices of general meetings where appropriate. The Company shall avoid ‘bundling’ resolutions unless the issues are
interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. Where resolutions are “bundled”, the Company
will explain the reasons and material implications in the notice of meeting.

All Directors including Chairman of the Board and the respective Chairman of the AC, NC and RC, and management
are intended to be in attendance at general meetings to address any queries of the shareholders and receive
feedback from shareholders. All the Directors were present at the Company’s last AGM held on 17 January 2023.

The Company’s external auditors will also present to address queries relating to the conduct of the audit and the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

The Constitution of the Company allows any member of the Company, if he is unable to attend a general meeting,
to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf at the meeting through a proxy form sent in
advance. Pursuant to the amendments to the Companies Act effective from 1 January 2016, corporate shareholders
of the Company which provide nominee or custodial services are entitled to appoint more than two proxies to
attend and vote on their behalf at general meetings provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights
attached to a different share or shares held by such corporate shareholders.
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The Group supports and encourages active shareholders’ participation at general meetings. The Board believes that
general meetings serve as an opportune forum for shareholders to meet the Board and key management personnel,
and to interact with them. Information on general meetings is disseminated through notices for the general
meetings sent to all shareholders. The notices are also released via SGXNet and posted on the Company's website.

The Company's Constitution allows all shareholders to appoint proxies to attend general meetings and vote on their
behalf. As the authentication of shareholder identity information and other related security issues still remain a
concern, the Group has decided, for the time being, not to implement voting in absentia by mail, email or fax.

The Company records the minutes of general meetings that include relevant and substantial comments from
shareholders relating to the agenda of the meetings and responses from management.

Under Provision 11.5 of the Code, the Company should publish the minutes of general meetings of shareholders on
SGXNet and/or its corporate website as soon as practicable and such minutes shall record substantial and relevant
comments or queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the
Board and management. The minutes of general meetings of the Company, including a summary of substantial
and relevant comments or questions from shareholders relating to the agenda of general meetings and responses
thereof, will be published on SGXNet and/or its corporate website within one (1) month after the date of the
meeting, for the information of the shareholders.

The Company puts all resolutions to vote by poll and makes an announcement of the detailed results showing
the number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages for general meetings.
Electronic poll voting may be efficient in terms of speed but may not be cost effective. In this respect, the Company
did not adopt electronic poll voting.

Forthcoming AGM to be Convened

The forthcoming AGM in respect of FY2023 will be held physically at 86, International Road, Singapore 629176 on 19
January 2024. Shareholders will be able to raise questions and vote in person at the AGM. There will be no option for
shareholders to participate virtually. Arrangements relating to attendance at the forthcoming AGM, submission of
questions to the Chairman of the Meeting in advance of, or at, the AGM, and voting at the AGM by shareholders or
their duly appointed proxy(ies), are set out in the Notice of AGM released on SGXNet on 4 January 2024.

Dividend Policy

In the Company’s Offer Document dated 11 April 2013, the Company stated that it does not have a fixed dividend
policy. In considering the form, frequency and amount of dividends that the Board may recommend or declare in
respect of any particular year or period, the Board generally takes into account various factors including:

° The level of the Group's cash and retained earnings.

° The Group's actual and projected financial performance.

° The Group's projected levels of capital expenditure and other investment plans.
° The Group's working capital requirements and general financing condition.

As disclosed in the Company's results announcement for FY2023, the Board did not recommend any dividend for
FY2023 in order to conserve cash for working capital requirements during the uncertain business environment
amidst the geopolitical tensions and inflationary cost pressures.
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Principle 12: Engagement with Shareholders

The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of shareholders
during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on various
matters affecting the company.

Disclosure of Information on a Timely Basis

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate disclosure and transparency. The Group
values dialogue sessions with its shareholders. The Group believes in regular, effective and fair communication
with shareholders and is committed to hearing shareholders’ views and addressing their concerns. In addition to
general meetings and where the opportunities arise, the management of the Company will also meet with investors,
analysts and the media, as well as participate in investor relations activities to solicit and understand the views of the
investing community.

Material information is disclosed in a comprehensive, accurate and timely manner via SGXNet, press releases
and the Company's corporate website. To ensure a level playing field and provide confidence to shareholders,
unpublished price-sensitive and/or trade-sensitive information is not selectively disclosed. In the event that
unpublished material information is inadvertently disclosed to any selected group in the course of the Group’s
interactions with the investing community, a media release or announcement will be immediately released to the
public via SGXNet.

The Group's corporate website is the key resource of information for shareholders. In addition to the half-yearly and
yearly financial results, it contains a wealth of investor-related information on the Group, including annual reports,

share price information and dividend information.

Interaction with shareholders/stakeholders

The Company has an internal investor relations function which focuses on facilitating communications with
stakeholders and analysts on a regular basis, attending to their queries or concerns and keeping them apprised of
the Group's corporate developments and financial performance. During such interactions, the Company solicits and
understands the views of shareholders/stakeholders and the investment community. Shareholders may also submit
questions through the IR Contact page of the Company’s corporate website.

Principle 13: Managing Stakeholder Relationships

The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of material
stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the company are served.

The Group has arrangements in place to identify and engage with its material shareholder groups and to manage
its relationships with such groups. It undertakes formal and informal stakeholder engagement exercise, such as
announcements, press releases, publications, surveys and feedback with material stakeholder groups which
include shareholders, suppliers, customers and employees. The Group has identified the environmental, social and
governance factors that are important to its stakeholders. These factors form the materiality matrix upon which
targets, metrics, programmes and progress are reviewed by and approved by the Board, before they are published
annually in the Company's sustainability report. Further information in relation to details of the stakeholders
engaged by the Group, areas of focus, approaches to stakeholders, including frequency of engagement by type and
by stakeholder groups and key feedback or issues that have been raised though stakeholder engagement can be
found in the sustainability report for FY2023 which is included in this Annual Report. The Company maintains a
current corporate website http://www.gdsglobal.com.sg/.
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Dealing in Securities

The Group has adopted an internal compliance code to provide guidance to its Directors and all employees of the
Group with regard to dealings in the Company's securities. The code prohibits dealing in the Company’s securities
by the Directors and employees of the Group while in possession of unpublished price sensitive or trade sensitive
information.

Directors and employees are not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations and
during the one month before the announcement of the Company’s half-year and full year financial results. The
Directors and employees are also required to adhere to the provisions of the Securities and Futures Act, Companies
Act, the Catalist Rules and any other relevant regulations with regard to their securities transactions. They are also
expected to observe insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading
period.

Material Contracts

Save for the following material contracts previously disclosed in the Company’'s offer document in relation to its

initial public offering dated 11 April 2013, there are no other material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries

involving the interest of the CEO, any Director or Controlling Shareholder either still subsisting as at 30 September

2023 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year:

(a) the assignment deed dated 25 February 2013 entered into between Mr Michael Wong and Gliderol Doors (S)
Pte. Ltd. in relation to two inventions entitled “Louvred Shutter” and “Security Shutter (Improvements to Roller

Shutters)”;

(b)  the non-competition deed dated 19 March 2013 entered into between the Company, Mr Michael Wong and
GIID Pty Limited; and

() the Service Agreement of Mr Michael Wong dated 22 March 2013 which took effect from the date of the
Company's admission to Catalist on 19 April 2013, such agreement having been renewed every three years
with the last renewal being 19 April 2022. The Service Agreement has ended on 15 November 2023.

Non-Sponsor Fees

In compliance with Rule 1204(21) of the Catalist Rules, S$40,000 was paid to the Company’'s Sponsor, SAC Capital

Private Limited during the financial year under review, in relation to strategic advisory services and business

valuation services.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company confirms that there were no interested person transactions during the financial year under review.
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Directors’
Statement

Year ended 30 September 2023

The directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
GDS Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2023.

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 94 to 140 are
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at
30 September 2023 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in
equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable
grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Wong Lok Yung (Non-Executive Non-Independent Chairman)
Lee Pei Fang (Executive Director)

Tang Hee Sung (Non-Executive Non-Independent Director)
Aw Eng Hai (Lead Independent Non-Executive Director)
Cheam Heng Haw, Howard (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Doreen Yew Lai Leng (Independent Non-Executive Director)

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share
capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’

shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 except as
follows:

Shareholdings in which

Name of director and companies Shareholdings registered director is deemed to have
in which interests are held in name of director an interest

At beginning At end At beginning At end

of year of year of year of year

The Company
(Ordinary shares)
Wong Lok Yung - - 88,500,000 88,500,000
Lee Pei Fang 498,000 498,000 - -

Ultimate holding company
D'Oasis Pte. Ltd.

(Ordinary shares)

Wong Lok Yung 90 90 10 10
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Directors’
Statement

Year ended 30 September 2023

3 DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (cont'd)

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, Wong Lok Yung is deemed to have an interest in
the Company and in all the related corporations of the Company.

The directors’ interest in the shares of the Company at 21 October 2023 has been changed based on a
shareholder placement on 8 September 2023 and off market transaction on 11 October 2023. The proposed
disposal of director’s interest has been completed on 17 October 2023 and the changes in the directors’
interest in the shares of the Company is as follows:

Shareholdings in which

Name of director and companies Shareholdings registered director is deemed to have
in which interests are held in name of director an interest
At At At At
1 October 21 October 1 October 21 October
2023 2023 2023 2023
The Company

(Ordinary shares)

Wong Lok Yung - 88,500,000 16,500,000
Tang Hee Sung 15,500,000 - -
Lee Pei Fang 498,000 498,000 - -

4 SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Options to take up unissued shares

During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in
the Group were granted.

(b) Options exercised

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued
by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

(c) Unissued shares under options

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in
the Group under options.

5 AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Company, consisting all independent non-executive directors, is as follows:

Aw Eng Hai - Chairman (Appointed on 25 October 2023)

Cheam Heng Haw, Howard - Member (Appointed on 25 October 2023)
Doreen Yew Lai Leng - Member (Appointed on 25 October 2023)

Wu Chiaw Ching - Chairman (Resigned on 14 November 2023)

Sia Huei Chieh, Pebble - Member (Resigned on 14 November 2023)
Tan Soon Liang - Member (Resigned on 14 November 2023)
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Directors’
Statement

Year ended 30 September 2023

AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)

The Audit Committee will meet periodically to perform the following functions:

(a)

(b)

review the audit plans of the Company's external auditors and internal auditors, including the results of
the external and internal auditors’ review and evaluation of the system of internal controls;

review the scope and results of external auditors’ reports;

review with independent internal auditors the findings of their review report, internal control processes
and procedures, and make recommendations on the internal control processes and procedures to be
adopted by the Group;

review and recommend to the board of directors (the “Board”) the types of risks or risk appetite the
Company undertakes to achieve its business strategies. Oversee the risk management framework,
policies and resources to manage and report risks within the Company’s risk appetite;

review and report to the board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls and risk
management systems;

recommend to the Board on the opinion and disclosure in the annual report on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems in accordance with the
Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the
“Listing Manual”) and the Code of Corporate Governance;

review the co-operation given by management to the external auditors and internal auditors, where
applicable;

review the financial statements of the Company and the Group, and discuss any significant
adjustments, major risk areas, changes in accounting policies, compliance with Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (International), concerns and issues arising from the audits including any matters
which the auditors may wish to discuss in the absence of management, where necessary, before their
submission to the Board for approval;

review the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of
the financial statements of the Company and the Group and any announcements relating to the
Company's and the Group's financial performance;

receive and review a formal assurance from the Executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer on
the financial records and financial statements;

review and discuss with auditors any suspected fraud, irregularity or infringement of any relevant laws,
rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results or
financial position and management'’s response;

review the transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the Listing Manual, if
any;

review any potential conflicts of interest and set out a framework to resolve or mitigate any potential
conflicts of interest;

review the key financial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversight on the Group’s

financial reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or, where the
findings are material, announced immediately via SGXNet;
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Directors’
Statement

Year ended 30 September 2023

5 AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)

(0) review the independence of the external auditors and recommend their appointment or
re-appointment, remuneration and terms of engagement;

(p) review and approve foreign exchange hedging policies implemented by the Group and conduct
periodic review of foreign exchange transactions and hedging policies and procedures;

() undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board
its findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the Audit Committee;

(n review arrangements by which an employee may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting and to ensure that arrangements are in place for the
independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow-up; and

(s) undertake generally such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing
Manual, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

The Audit Committee convened two meetings during the financial year with full attendance from all members.
The Audit Committee has also met with the internal and external auditors, without the presence of the
Company’'s management, at least once a year.

The Audit Committee also reviews the independence and obijectivity of the external auditors and having
reviewed the scope and value of non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group is satisfied
that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external
auditors.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been
given the resources required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to
invite any director or key management personnel or any executive officer to attend its meetings.
The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for
re-appointment as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

6 AUDITORS

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Aw Eng Hai

15 December 2023
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Independent
Auditor’s Report

To the Members of GDS Global Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of GDS Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of
financial position of the Company as at 30 September 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 94 to 140.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (“SFRS(I)s") so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and
the financial position of the Company as at 30 September 2023 and of the consolidated financial performance,
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the changes in equity of the
Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs"). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountant and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent
Auditor’s Report

To the Members of GDS Global Limited

Key Audit Matters (cont'd)

Key audit matter (s)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Loss allowance

The Group assesses at each reporting
date whether the financial assets carried
at amortised cost are credit-impaired.
Management has applied a simplified
expected credit loss (“ECL") model to
determine the loss allowance on trade
receivables and contract assets.

As at 30 September 2023, the Group has trade
receivables amounting to $1,508,000 (2022 :
$2,321,000) and contract assets amounting to
$391,000 (2022 : $577,000).

Management's judgement is required in
assessing and determining the ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets via evaluating
expected future receipts from customers
based on past payment trends, relative age
of the debtors, knowledge of the customers’
businesses and its financial condition and
forward looking adjustments based on macro-
economic factors.

We performed procedures to understand management's process
over the monitoring of trade receivables and contract assets, the
collection process and loss allowance assessment.

We assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s policy on
expected credit loss allowance on trade receivables and contract
assets and assessed the adequacy of the allowance, including
discussing with management on the credit quality of the existing
customers and collectability of significant past due trade
receivables.

For the assessment of ECL, we also considered amongst
other factors, such as the credit risk, past payment history,
settlement arrangements, subsequent receipts and on-going
business dealings with the debtors involved and forward looking
adjustments based on macro-economic factors to assess the
appropriateness of any loss allowance to be made.

The key assumptions and estimation on loss allowance are
disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements, and further
information related to trade receivables and contract assets
are provided in Notes 7 and 8 to the financial statements
respectively.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Under SFRS(l) 1-36 Impairment of Assets, the
Group is required to test goodwill impairment
at least annually or more frequently when
there is an indication that the cash generating
unit (“CGU") may be impaired. This assessment
requires the exercise of significant judgement
and use of subjective assumptions, particularly
the growth rates by management about the
future cash flows of the businesses and the
discount rates applied to future cash flow
forecasts.

As at 30 September 2023, the carrying amount
of goodwill amounting to $659,000 (2022 :
$659,000) arose from the acquisition of
Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd. During the year, no
impairment was recorded.

The key assumptions underlying the
impairment assessment and the sensitivity of
changes in these assumptions to the risk of
impairment are disclosed in Notes 3 and 12 to
the financial statements.

Our audit procedures focused on evaluating and challenging key
assumptions used by management in conducting the impairment
assessment. These procedures included:

e obtaining an understanding of management’s process over
assessing impairment of goodwill;

e reviewing management's impairment assessment of goodwill
and their assessment on the recoverable amount of goodwill;

e involving valuation specialists to assess the reasonableness
of the discount rate and comparing the independent
expectations to those used by management;

e challenging the cash flow forecasts used, by comparing to
current market performance and expectations of future
changes in the market;

e conducting retrospective review by assessing whether the
Group has achieved prior year's forecasts; and

e performing sensitivity analysis around the key drivers of the
cash flow forecasts.

We have also reviewed the adequacy and appropriateness of the
disclosures made in Notes 3 and 12 to the financial statements
respectively.
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Key Audit Matters (cont'd)

Independent
Auditor’s Report

To the Members of GDS Global Limited

Key audit matter (s)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Impairment assessment of non-current
assets

Under SFRS(l) 1-36 Impairment of Assets, the
Group is required to assess at the end of
each reporting period whether there is any
indication that its non-current assets may be
impaired. If any such indicators exists, the
Group shall estimate the recoverable amount
of the non-current assets. This assessment
requires the exercise of significant judgement
and use of subjective assumptions, particularly
the growth rates by management about the
future cash flows of the businesses and the
discount rates applied to future cash flow
forecasts.

As at 30 September 2023, the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets held by its wholly-
owned subsidiary Gliderol Doors (S) Pte. Ltd.
amounted to $1,579,000 (2022 : $1,881,000),
$6,248,000 (2022 : $7,540,000) and $513,000
(2022 : $607,000) respectively. The non-current
assets were not impaired as the recoverable
amount of the CGU exceeded the carrying
amount of the CGU.

The key assumptions underlying the
impairment assessment and the sensitivity
of changes in these assumptions to the risk
of impairment are disclosed in Note 3 to the
financial statements.

Our audit procedures focused on evaluating and challenging key
assumptions used by management in conducting the impairment
assessment. These procedures included:

e involving valuation specialists to assess the reasonableness
of the discount rate and comparing the independent
expectations to those used by management;

e challenging the cash flow forecasts used, by comparing to
current market performance and expectations of future
changes in the market;

e conducting retrospective review by assessing whether the
Group has achieved prior year's forecasts; and

e performing sensitivity analysis around the key drivers of the
cash flow forecasts.

We have also reviewed the adequacy and appropriateness of the
disclosures made in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent
Auditor’s Report

To the Members of GDS Global Limited

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(l)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised
use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

() Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

(f) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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Independent
Auditor’s Report

To the Members of GDS Global Limited

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont'd)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr Chua How Kiat.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

15 December 2023
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Statements of
Financial Position

As at 30 September 2023

Group Company
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 5,876 7,177 1,922 3,292
Trade and other receivables 7 1,998 2,787 3,454 2,333
Contract assets 8 391 577 - -
Inventories 9 1,669 1,945 - -
Total current assets 9,934 12,486 5,376 5,625
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 1,593 1,905 - -
Right-of-use assets 11 6,354 7,589 - -
Intangible assets 12 1,271 1,360 - -
Subsidiaries 13 - - 4,240 4,240
Total non-current assets 9,218 10,854 4,240 4,240
Total assets 19,152 23,340 9,616 9,865
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 1,254 1,412 177 205
Contract liabilities 15 649 815 - -
Lease liabilities 16 1,374 1,331 - -
Income tax payable 119 225 - 9
Total current liabilities 3,396 3,783 177 214
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 17 4 184 - -
Lease liabilities 16 5,738 6,997 - -
Other payables 14 189 213 - -
Total non-current liabilities 5,931 7,394 - -
Total liabilities 9,327 1,177 177 214
Capital, reserves and non-controlling
interests
Share capital 18 5,245 5,245 5,245 5,245
Reserves 2,598 4,865 4,194 4,406
Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 7,843 10,110 9,439 9,651
Non-controlling interests 1,982 2,053 - -
Total equity 9,825 12,163 9,439 9,651
Total liabilities and equity 19,152 23,340 9,616 9,865

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and other Comprehensive Income

Year ended 30 September 2023

Group
Note 2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Revenue 19 12,203 13,664
Cost of sales (8,816) (9,647)
Gross profit 3,387 4,017
Other operating income 20 118 311
Marketing and distribution expenses (320) (430)
Administrative expenses (4,782) (4,750)
Other operating expenses (347) (533)
Interest revenue 21 13 3
Other gains and losses 22 (118) 89
Finance costs 23 (174) (201)
Loss before tax (2,223) (1,494)
Income tax credit (expense) 24 105 (181)
Loss for the year 25 (2,118) (1,675)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 74 (77)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax 74 (77)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (2,044) (1,752)
(Loss) Profit attributable to:
- Owners of the Company (2,341) (2,127)
- Non-controlling interests 223 452
(2,118) (1,675)
Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:
- Owners of the Company (2,267) (2,204)
- Non-controlling interests 223 452
(2,044) (1,752)
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 26 (2.09) (1.90)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of
Changes in Equity

Year ended 30 September 2023

Equity
attributable
Capital to owners Non-
Share Translation reserves Merger Retained of the  controlling
Group capital reserve  (Note27) reserve earnings Company interests Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 October 2021 5,245 (50) 277 19 6,823 12,314 1,846 14,160
Total comprehensive (loss) income
for the year:
(Loss) Profit for the year - - - - (2,127) (2,127) 452 (1,675)
Other comprehensive loss for
the year - (77) - - - (77) - (77)
Total - (77) - - (2,127) (2,204) 452 (1,752)
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity:
Dividends paid to non-
controlling shareholders by
subsidiary - - - - - - (245) (245)
Total - - - - - - (245) (245)
Balance at 30 September 2022 5,245 (127) 277 19 4,696 10,110 2,053 12,163
Total comprehensive (loss) income
for the year:
(Loss) Profit for the year - - - - (2,341) (2,341) 223 (2,118)
Other comprehensive income
for the year - 74 - - - 74 - 74
Total - 74 - - (2,341) (2,267) 223 (2,044)
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity:
Dividends paid to non-
controlling shareholders by
subsidiary - - - - - - (294) (294)
Total - - - - - - (294) (294)
Balance at 30 September 2023 5,245 (53) 277 19 2,355 7,843 1,982 9,825

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of
Changes in Equity

Year ended 30 September 2023

Share Retained
Company capital earnings Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 October 2021 5,245 4,050 9,295
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income
for the year - 356 356
Balance at 30 September 2022 5,245 4,406 9,651
Loss for the year, representing total comprehensive loss
for the year - (212) (212)
Balance at 30 September 2023 5,245 4,194 9,439

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

Year ended 30 September 2023

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Operating activities
Loss before tax (2,223) (1,494)
Adjustments for:
Interest income (13) (3)
Interest expense on lease liabilities 174 201
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 493 493
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,372 1,363
Amortisation of intangible assets 97 94
Bad debts written off * 1
Allowance for inventory obsolescence, net 83 13
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (15)
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) 75 (16)
Amortisation of deferred grant income (56) (56)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 2 581
Inventories 193 (54)
Trade and other receivables 787 (743)
Contract assets 186 496
Trade and other payables (50) 95
Contract liabilities (166) (76)
Cash generated from operations 952 299
Interest paid on lease liabilities (174) (201)
Income tax paid (181) (127)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities 597 (29)
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (181) (154)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 69
Interest received 13 3
Purchase of intangible assets (8) -
Net cash used in investing activities (176) (82)
Financing activities
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders by subsidiary (294) (245)
Repayment of lease liabilities (1,353) (1,258)
Cash used in financing activities (1,647) (1,503)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,226) (1,614)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,177 8,775
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign
currencies (75) 16
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 6) 5,876 7177

*Less than $1,000

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Notes to
Financial Statements

Year ended 30 September 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company (Registration Number 201217895H) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its
principal place of business and registered office at 86 International Road, Singapore 629176. The Company
was listed on Catalist board, the sponsor-supervised board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX-ST") on 19 April 2013.

The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars, and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand ($'000) except where otherwise stated.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2023 were authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 15 December 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical
cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up with the provisions of the
Singapore Companies Act 1967 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s").

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market
participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(l) 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in SFRS(I) 1-2 Inventories or
value in use in SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On 1 October 2022, the Group and the Company adopted all
the new and revised SFRS(l) pronouncements that are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/
revised SFRS(l) pronouncements does not result in changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting
policies and has no material effect on the disclosures or on the amounts reported for the current or prior
years.
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Notes to
Financial Statements

Year ended 30 September 2023

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° Has power over the investee;
° Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
° Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

° Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
° Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
° Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate the Company has, or does not have, the current

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to
control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those
interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are
initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent
changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
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Notes to
Financial Statements

Year ended 30 September 2023

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (cont'd)
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest; and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable SFRS(I)s). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments (“SFRS(I) 9”), or when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition
date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that:

° Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes and SFRS(l) 1-19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

° Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with SFRS(l) 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date; and

° Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with SFRS(l) 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to
Financial Statements

Year ended 30 September 2023

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont'd)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
corresponding adjustments against goodwill.

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the 'measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests (including joint
operations) in the acquired entity are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

MERGER RESERVE - Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal amount of the share
capital of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by the Group from a common shareholder
and consideration paid for the acquisition.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of
financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables that
do not have a significant financing component which are measured at transaction price. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair

value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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Notes to
Financial Statements

Year ended 30 September 2023
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)

Financial assets (cont'd)

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Except for debt instruments that meet the conditions for subsequent measurement at amortised cost, all
other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transactions costs
and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on
initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “interest revenue” line item.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at each reporting date. Specifically for financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)
Financial assets (cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade and other receivables and
contract assets. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit losses
on these financial assets are estimated based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)
Financial assets (cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (cont'd)

Significant increase in credit risk (cont’d)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management

purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet the following criteria are generally not

recoverable.

° information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is

more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate

that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated

future cash flows of that financial have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the debtor; or

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or

C) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)
Financial assets (cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (cont'd)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty has no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has ceased business. Any recoveries received are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date except for assets for which the simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (cont’'d)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an
effective yield basis.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts liabilities are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRS(I) 9; and

° the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with revenue recognition policies.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the
end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised
cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the “other gains and
losses” line item in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit and loss.
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OFFSETTING ARRANGEMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
presented in the statement of financial position when the Company and the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent on a
future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

LEASES

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee.

The incremental borrowing rate reflects the fixed rate at which the Group could borrow an amount similar to
the value of the right-of-use assets, in the same currency, for a similar term, and with similar collateral.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
° the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to

terminate the lease.
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the

lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.
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LEASES (cont'd)

The Group as lessee (cont'd)

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

° the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in
a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site
on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The Group applies SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss as described below.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, on the following bases:

Renovations - 10 years
Furniture and fittings - 10 years
Computers - 3 years
Motor vehicles - 5to 10 years
Machinery and equipment - 5to 10 years
Office equipment - 10 years
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont'd)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

GOODWILL - Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out in the business combinations accounting
policy.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or Group's cash-generating units)
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit on the pro-rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the profit or loss on disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - Intangible assets acquired with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised
on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives are disclosed in Note 12. The estimated useful lives
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL -
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL
(cont'd)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to
be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows when the effect of the time value of money is
material.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as deferred grant
income and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the

purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it

transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

Sale of doors and shutter systems

Revenue generated from sale of doors and shutter systems is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been delivered and installed at the customer’s specific location.
Following the delivery and installation, the customer has full discretion over the manner of use of the doors
and shutter systems.

A contract asset is recognised when the delivery and installations are performed, representing the Group's
right to consideration for the performance obligation completed to date but not yet billed. The contract asset
is reclassified to trade receivables when the consideration is billed.

Included in the transaction price for the sale of doors and shutter systems is a warranty provided by the
Group with every purchase of a new door and/or shutter system for a period of 12 months after delivery.
Such warranties associated with sale of doors and shutter systems cannot be purchased separately and they
serve as an assurance that the doors and shutter systems delivered and installed comply with agreed upon
specifications. Accordingly, the Group accounts for such assurance warranties in accordance with SFRS(I) 1- 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets consistent with its previous accounting treatment.

Trading of production component

Revenue generated from trading of production component is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred to the customer, being when the goods have been transferred to the customer based on
the agreed upon incoterms with the customer. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the good is
transferred to the customer as this represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Service and maintenance works

The Group also provides service and maintenance works for the products supplied or installed by the Group
or third parties.

For the provision of service and maintenance works, revenue is recognised upon the completion of
service and maintenance works, which is typically completed within a day. Management considers that the
completion of the service and maintenance works represents that the performance obligation is satisfied.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the service and maintenance works are completed as this
represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage
of time is required before payment is due.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders' rights to receive payment have been
established.

BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made
to state-managed retirement benefit plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to
those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of
tax professionals within the Company supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in
certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax liability is not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from

the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
INCOME TAX (cont'd)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each group
entity within the Group are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group and
the statement of financial position of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional
currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the group entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity's
functional currency are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

° exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

° exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

° exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of
the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net
investment.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
foreign exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange translation
reserve in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION (cont'd)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences
is reclassified to profit or loss.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required
to make judgements (other than those involves estimates) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management
has not made any judgements that will have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements, apart from those involving estimations as discussed below.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Loss allowance

The Group measures allowance based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other receivables
and contract assets where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible with supportable forward-looking information. The estimation of loss allowance requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences will
impact the carrying value of trade and other receivables, contract assets and loss allowance expenses in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd)
Loss allowance (cont'd)

Management monitors outstanding receivables and the financial health of customers, particularly those
of larger debtors. Where there are indications that raises doubt about the financial health of customers,
management takes proactive steps to recover outstanding debts. Management assesses and determines the
loss allowance via calculating the expected future receipts from customers based on past payment trends,
relative age of the debtors, knowledge of the customers’ business and its financial condition, and forward
looking adjustments based on macro-economic factors.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 to the
financial statements respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The recoverable amount is based on the value in use of the cash-generating unit. The value in use
methodology that is based on cash flow forecasts requires significant management’s judgement about future
market conditions, including growth rates and discount rates. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of
the reporting period was $659,000 (2022 : $659,000). No impairment was required during the year. Details of
the impairment assessment are disclosed in Note 12.

Allowance for inventory obsolescence

At the end of each reporting period, management determines whether an allowance for inventory
obsolescence is required, taking into consideration the usability, market demand and market value of the
inventory. For spare parts that are in usable condition but market value and demand are diminishing,
allowance for inventory obsolescence will be made over time.

Arising from the reviews, management sets up the necessary allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories for any shortfall in the net realisable value of the inventories. The carrying amount of inventory is
disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-current assets

The recoverable amount is based on the value in use of the cash-generating unit, to which the assets belong
to. The value in use methodology that is based on cash flow forecasts requires significant management’s
judgement about future market conditions, including growth rates and discount rates.

As at the end of the reporting period, one of the Group's subsidiaries, Gliderol Doors (S) Pte. Ltd. was loss-
making and cash flow forecasts was prepared based on the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for the next five years and beyond.

The rate used to discount the cash flow forecasts from the subsidiary is 14.25% (2022 : 11.5%). As at 30

September 2023, any reasonably possibly change to the key assumptions applied is not likely to result in the
recoverable amount to be lower than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit.

116 GDS GLOBALLIMITED



Notes to
Financial Statements

Year ended 30 September 2023

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
(a)  Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial assets:
At amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents) 7,879 10,127 5,359 5,608
Financial liabilities:
At amortised cost 1,183 1,357 177 205
Lease liabilities 7,112 8,328 - -

(b)  Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group does not have any financial instruments which are subject to enforceable master netting
arrangements or similar netting agreements.

The Company's netting arrangement are as follows:

30 September 2023

Financial assets a b c=a-b
Gross amounts of Net amounts of
recognised financial financial assets
Gross amounts of  liabilities set off in presented in the
recognised financial the statement of statement of
asset financial position financial position
$'000 $'000 $'000
Trade receivable due from a
subsidiary 5,822 (3,555) 2,267
Financial liabilities a b c=a-b
Gross amounts of Net amounts of
recognised financial financial liabilities
Gross amounts of assets set off in presented in the
recognised financial the statement of statement of
liabilities financial position financial position
$'000 $'000 $'000

Trade payable due to a
subsidiary 3,555 (3,555) -
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(b)  Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements (cont’d)

30 September 2022

Financial assets a b c=a-b
Gross amounts of Net amounts of
recognised financial financial assets
Gross amounts of  liabilities set off in presented in the
recognised financial the statement of statement of
asset financial position financial position
$'000 $'000 $'000
Trade receivable due from a
subsidiary 5,201 (2,885) 2,316
Financial liabilities a b c=a-b
Gross amounts of Net amounts of
recognised financial financial liabilities
Gross amounts of assets set off in presented in the
recognised financial the statement of statement of
liabilities financial position financial position
$'000 $'000 $'000

Trade payable due to a
subsidiary 2,885 (2,885) -

In reconciling the ‘Net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities presented in the statement
of financial position’ to the line item amounts presented in the statement of financial position, the
above amounts represent only those which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements.

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Group's overall financial risk management policies and objectives seek to minimise potential
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. Risk management is carried out by the
board of directors and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the Group's policy guidelines
are complied with. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures
to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved
policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Group
Assets Liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
United States dollar 1,479 2,046 27 122
Euro 13 78 11 10
Hong Kong dollar 47 78 9 23

Emirati Dirham 36 37 - -

The Company has investment in a foreign subsidiary, whose net assets are exposed to currency
translation risk. The Group does not currently designate its foreign currency denominated debt
as a hedging instrument for the purpose of hedging the translation of its foreign operations.

(a) Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the relevant
foreign currencies against the functional currency of each entity. 10% is the sensitivity
rate that represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10%
change in foreign currency rates.

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each
entity, loss will increase by:

Group

2023 2022

$'000 $'000
Loss:
United State dollar 145 192
Euro * 7
Hong Kong dollar 4 5
Emirati Dirham 4 4

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of
each entity in the Group, there will be an equal and opposite impact on loss.

The Company does not hold significant foreign currency denominated financial assets or
financial liabilities and hence, no foreign currency sensitivity was performed.

* Less than $1,000
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(i) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. No sensitivity analysis is
prepared as the Group and Company are not significantly affected by changes in market interest
rates as the interest-bearing financial assets namely bank balances mainly carried fixed interest.

(iii) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
advance payments of sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults. The Group's exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by the counterparty limits that are
reviewed and approved by management periodically.

Before accepting any new customer, the sales department will do an independent assessment
of the financial health of the customer via review of the financial reports and assess if these
customers are in the position to make payments on billing. Sales department will also run a
business search and negative news search to ensure that the prospective customers are
not under any litigation or investigation. The independent assessment and search results
are also reviewed by senior management. If there are no financial red flags and no negative
news surrounding the customer, these orders may then be accepted, subject to the timeline
deliverables and expected gross profit from the order. These prospective customers are
reviewed and approved by the sales manager and managing director prior to making sales to
them.

Credit approvals and other monitoring procedures are also in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. Furthermore, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each trade debt on an individual basis at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regards, management
considers that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry or geographic factors
similarly affect the Group's counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in
relation to the Group's total credit exposure. The Group also has concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as most of the customers are located in Singapore and Europe.

The Company has an amount due from a subsidiary which amounted to $3,417,000
(2022 : $2,316,000).

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group places their bank balances with
creditworthy financial institutions.

The maximum amount the Company could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee,
if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterpart to the guarantee is $988,000
(2022 : $1,117,000). Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Company
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii)

Credit risk management (cont'd)

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any
loss allowances, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Basis for recognising
expected credit losses
Category Description (“ECL")
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and | 12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts.
Doubtful Amount is > 30 days past due or there has been | Lifetime ECL -
a significant increase in credit risk since initial | not credit-impaired
recognition.
In default Amount is > 90 days past due or there is evidence | Lifetime ECL -
indicating the asset is credit-impaired. credit-impaired
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in | Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery.

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets as well as maximum
exposure to credit risk by credit risk grades:

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or  carrying Loss carrying
Note credit rating lifetime ECL  amount  allowance  amount
$'000 $'000 $'000
Group
30 September 2023
Trade receivables due from 7 (i) Lifetime ECL 1,508 - 1,508
third parties (simplified
approach)
Other receivables due from 7 Performing  12-month ECL 33 - 33
third parties
Deposits 7 Performing  12-month ECL 71 - 71
Contract assets 8 (i) Lifetime ECL 391 - 391
(simplified
approach)
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii) Credit risk management (cont'd)

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or  carrying Loss carrying
Note credit rating lifetime ECL  amount  allowance  amount
$'000 $'000 $'000
Group
30 September 2022
Trade receivables due from 7 (i) Lifetime ECL 2,321 - 2,321
third parties (simplified
approach)
Deposits 7 Performing  12-month ECL 52 - 52
Contract assets 8 (i) Lifetime ECL 577 - 577
(simplified
approach)
Company
30 September 2023
Trade receivables 7 (i) Lifetime ECL 2,267 - 2,267
(simplified
approach)
Other receivables due from 7 Performing 20 - 20
third parties
Other receivables due from a 7 Performing 1,150 - 1,150
subsidiary
30 September 2022
Trade receivables 7 (i) Lifetime ECL 2,316 - 2,316
(simplified
approach)
(i) For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach

in SFRS(I) 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items based on historical credit loss experience on the
past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and
estimates of future economic conditions.

Further details of credit risk on trade and other receivables and contract assets are disclosed in

Notes 7 and 8 to the financial statements respectively.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management

The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows
to finance its activities. The Group minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines
available.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company's
non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual
undiscounted payments.

Average On
effective demand Within
interest  or within 2to5 After 5

rate 1year years years Adjustment* Total
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
30 September 2023
Financial liabilities - 1,183 - - - 1,183
Lease liabilities 2.3% 1,521 5,994 - (403) 7,112
2,704 5,994 - (403) 8,295
30 September 2022
Financial liabilities - 1,357 - - - 1,357
Lease liabilities 2.3% 1,503 6,096 1,297 (568) 8,328
2,860 6,096 1,297 (568) 9,685
Company
30 September 2023
Financial liabilities - 177 - - - 177
30 September 2022
Financial liabilities - 205 - - - 205
* The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument

included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability
in the statement of financial position.

(V) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities of
the Group and the Company recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate
their fair values. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in
the respective notes to financial statements.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd)
(d)  Capital management policies and objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from 2022.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (lease liabilities disclosed in Note 16 after
deducting cash and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves,
retained earnings and non-controlling interests).

The capital structure of the Company consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, which
comprises issued capital and retained earnings.

Management reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt.
5 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company is a subsidiary of D'Oasis Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, which

is also the Company’s ultimate holding company. During the financial year, the Group did not enter into any

transactions with the ultimate holding company.

Compensation of directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the financial year was as

follows:
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Short-term benefits 1,262 1,303
Post-employment benefits 58 58
1,320 1,361
6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash on hand 2 2 * *
Cash at banks 4,874 4,883 1,922 1,040
Bank deposits 1,000 2,292 - 2,252
5,876 7177 1,922 3,292

* Less than $1,000.
Bank deposits bear an average effective interest rate of 0.10% (2022 : 0.10%) per annum. These deposits

with licensed banks can be withdrawn if required without having to incur significant costs, and therefore, the
carrying amounts approximate their fair values.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Trade receivables due from third parties 1,508 2,321 - -
Trade receivables due from a subsidiary - - 2,267 2,316
Other receivables due from third parties 33 - 20 -
Other receivables due from a subsidiary - - 1,150 -
Deposits 71 52 - -
Prepayments 127 119 17 17
Advances to supplier 259 295 - -
1,998 2,787 3,454 2,333

The average credit period for trade receivables is approximately 30 to 60 days (2022 : 30 to 60 days). No
interest is charged on the outstanding trade receivables.

The trade receivables due from a subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Loss allowance for trade receivables has always been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses (“ECL"). The ECL on trade receivables are individually assessed to be credit impaired and
estimated by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date. Management determines that the trade receivables is subjected to
immaterial credit loss.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

The table below is an analysis of aging of trade receivables that are current and past due as at the end of the
reporting period:

Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current 1,044 1,127 - 261
Past due
<1 month 336 777 - -
1 month to 3 months 84 362 - -
3 months to 6 months 29 42 - 286
6 months to 12 months - - - -
> 12 months 15 13 2,267 1,769

1,508 2,321 2,267 2,316

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating that the debtor has no prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has ceased business.
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7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd)
Other receivables
Other receivables from third parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

For purpose of impairment assessment, other receivables are considered to have low credit risk as they are
not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and there has been no significant increase in the risk
of default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment
for other receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL, except for
receivables which the Group has assessed that there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and loss allowance has been recognised.

In determining the 12-month ECL, management has taken into account the historical default experience and
the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of default of
each of these financial assets occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the
loss upon default in each case. Management determines that the other receivables is subjected to immaterial
credit loss.

8 CONTRACT ASSETS

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Contract assets 391 577
Analysed as current 391 577

There were no significant changes in the contract asset balances during the reporting period.

Management always estimates the loss allowance on amounts due from customers at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL, taking into account the past default experience of the customers and an analysis of the
customer’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the customers, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the customers operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. Management determines that the contract asset is
subjected to immaterial credit loss.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

9 INVENTORIES
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Raw materials 1,412 1,563
Finished goods 257 382
1,669 1,945

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes $83,000 (2022 : $13,000) in respect of write-downs
of inventory to net realisable value.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery
Furniture Motor and Office
Renovations and fittings Computers vehicles equipment equipment  Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Cost:
At 1 October 2021 840 352 350 1,046 3,187 145 5,920
Additions - - 20 - 120 14 154
Disposals - - (1) (247) - - (248)
At 30 September 2022 840 352 369 799 3,307 159 5,826
Additions - - 35 - 146 - 181
At 30 September 2023 840 352 404 799 3,453 159 6,007
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 October 2021 498 238 286 578 1,943 79 3,622
Depreciation 82 32 28 99 238 14 493
Disposals - - (1) (193) - - (194)
At 30 September 2022 580 270 313 484 2,181 93 3,921
Depreciation 82 28 38 80 250 15 493
At 30 September 2023 662 298 351 564 2,431 108 4,414
Carrying amount:
At 30 September 2023 178 54 53 235 1,022 51 1,593
At 30 September 2022 260 82 56 315 1,126 66 1,905
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1 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases leasehold buildings, motor vehicles and office equipment. The average lease termis 1 to 10
years (2022 : 1 to 10 years).

Leasehold Motor Office
buildings vehicles equipment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Cost:
At 1 October 2021 13,100 59 41 13,200
Additions - 14 - 14
At 30 September 2022 13,100 73 41 13,214
Additions 98 28 11 137
At 30 September 2023 13,198 101 52 13,351
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 October 2021 4,184 54 24 4,262
Depreciation 1,339 16 8 1,363
At 30 September 2022 5,523 70 32 5,625
Depreciation 1,339 25 8 1,372
At 30 September 2023 6,862 95 40 6,997
Carrying amount:
At 30 September 2023 6,336 6 12 6,354
At 30 September 2022 7,577 3 9 7,589
12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other
Patent Goodwill intangibles Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Cost:
At 1 October 2021 and 30 September 2022 1,698 859 919 3,476
Additions - - 8 8
30 September 2023 1,698 859 927 3,484
Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 October 2021 997 - 825 1,822
Amortisation 94 - - 94
At 30 September 2022 1,091 - 825 1,916
Amortisation 94 - 3 97
At 30 September 2023 1,185 - 828 2,013
Impairment:
At 1 October 2021, 30 September 2022
and 30 September 2023 - 200 - 200
Carrying amount:
At 30 September 2023 513 659 99 1,271
At 30 September 2022 607 659 94 1,360
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont'd)

(@)

The patent has a finite useful life. Amortisation is charged using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 18 years.

Goodwill of $859,000 (2022 : $859,000) and other intangibles of $824,000 (2022 : $824,000) arise from
the acquisition of a subsidiary, Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd (“Grimm”) during the financial year ended
30 September 2016.

Other intangibles comprise of customer relationships, order backlog, website of $722,000, $102,000
and $103,000 respectively (2022 : $722,000, $102,000 and $95,000). Customer relationships and order
backlog were acquired in a business combination. The useful life of customer relationships and order
backlog had been fully amortised as at 30 September 2021. The website pertains to a subsidiary’s
website developed by third party.

The amortisation expenses have been included in the line item “administrative expenses” in profit or
loss.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the cash-generating units (“CGUs") that are
expected to benefit from that business combination.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indicators that
goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key
assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling
prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for the next five years based on estimated revenue from 2024 to 2028 and estimated
growth rate of 1.0% (2022 : 1.0%) beyond 5 years. The rate does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the cash flow forecasts for Grimm is 15% (2022 : 11.5%). During the year, no
further impairment loss on goodwill was made.

As at 30 September 2023, any reasonably possibly change to the key assumptions applied is
not likely to result in the recoverable amount to be lower than the carrying amount of the
cash-generating unit.
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13 SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 4,240 4,240
0] Details of the Groups subsidiaries are as follows:
Country of Proportion of
incorporation ownership
and interest and
Name of subsidiaries operations  voting power held  Principal activities
2023 2022
% %
Held by the Company
Gliderol Doors (S) Pte. Ltd. " Singapore 100 100 Manufacture of metal
doors, window and
door frames, grilles
and gratings.
Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd.® Singapore 51 51 Trading of production
components.
Homegardd Pte. Ltd. ™ Singapore 100 100 Retail sale and
wholesale of security
and safety equipment.
Held by Gliderol Doors (S) Pte. Ltd.
Gliderol International (ME) FZE @ United Arab 100 100 Dormant.

Emirates
(1) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

(2)  This subsidiary is insignificant and unaudited.

(ii) The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group that have material
non-controlling interests:

Proportion of

Place of ownership
incorporation interests and
and principal voting rights held Profit allocated Accumulated
place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
business interest interests interests
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
% % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Grimm Industries
Pte. Ltd. Singapore 49 49 223 452 1,982 2,053
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd)
(i) ~ Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’'s subsidiary that has material

non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Grimm Industries Pte. Ltd.

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Current assets 3,788 4,137
Non-current assets 121 73
Current liabilities (294) (510)
Non-current liabilities (62) 3)
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Revenue 4,473 6,691
Expenses (4,017) (5,758)
Profit for the year 456 933
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 233 481
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests 223 452
Profit for the year 456 933
Other comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company - -
Other comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests - -
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company 233 481
Total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests 223 452
Total comprehensive income for the year 456 933
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 294 245
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,088 804
Net cash outflow from investing activities * (9)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (650) (551)
Net cash inflow 438 244

* Less than $1,000
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14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000
Trade payables due to third parties 356 297 42 37
Accruals and other payables 827 1,060 135 168
Deferred grant income 260 268 - -
1,443 1,625 177 205
Less: Non-current deferred grant income (189) (213) - -
1,254 1,412 177 205

The average credit period for trade payables is 30 to 60 days (2022 : 30 to 60 days). No interest is charged on
the outstanding balances.

15 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Contract liabilities 649 815
Analysed as current 649 815

Contract liabilities related to the Group’s obligation to deliver and install the doors and shutter systems for
which the Group has received or yet to receive the consideration from customer. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when control of the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the
doors and shutter systems are delivered to the customer.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period that relates
to brought forward contract liabilities. There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting period that

related to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

Group's revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period is

as follows:
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Contract liabilities in prior reporting period recognised
as revenue in current reporting period 815 891
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LEASE LIABILITIES

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Maturity analysis:
Year 1 1,521 1,503
Year 2 1,570 1,459
Year 3 1,533 1,516
Year 4 1,594 1,530
Year 5 1,297 1,591
Year 6 onwards - 1,297
7,515 8,896
Less: Unearned interest (403) (568)
7,112 8,328
Analysed as:
Current 1,374 1,331
Non-current 5,738 6,997
7,112 8,328

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are
monitored within the Group's treasury function.

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amounts.
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or

future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

1 October Financing New lease 30 September

2022 cash flows liabilities 2023

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Lease liabilities 8,328 (1,353) 137 7,112
1 October Financing New lease 30 September

2021 cash flows liabilities 2022

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Lease liabilities 9,572 (1,258) 14 8,328
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17 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities arise from the excess of tax over book depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets.

Group

$'000

At 1 October 2021 and 30 September 2022 184
Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 24) (180)
At 30 September 2023 4

18 SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company

Number of ordinary shares Issued and paid up

2023 2022 2023 2022

‘000 ‘000 $'000 $'000

Issued and paid up:

At the beginning and end of the year 112,000 112,000 5,245 5,245

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and a right to dividends as and
when declared by the Company.

19 REVENUE

A disaggregation of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Type of revenue
Sale of doors and shutter systems 4,423 4,344
Trading of production components 4,414 6,599
Service and maintenance works 3,366 2,721
12,203 13,664
Revenue recognised at a point in time
Sale of doors and shutter systems 4,423 4,344
Trading of production components 4,414 6,599
Service and maintenance works 3,366 2,721
12,203 13,664
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Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Sundry income 45 48
Government grant income 17 207
Amortisation of deferred income 56 56
118 311
INTEREST REVENUE
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Interest income from bank deposits 13 3
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (15)
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) 118 (74)
118 (89)
FINANCE COSTS
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Interest expense on lease liabilities 174 201
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24 INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Tax (credit) expense comprises:
- Current tax expense 75 181
- Deferred tax benefit (Note 17) (180) -
Income tax (credit) expense (105) 181

Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2022 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense
Loss before tax (2,223) (1,494)
Income tax benefit calculated at 17% (2022 : 17%) (378) (253)
Effect of income that is exempt from taxation (26) (56)
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining
taxable profit 45 13
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to
deferred tax of prior years (180) -
Deferred tax assets not recognised 434 479
Others - 2)
Income tax (credit) expense (105) 181

As at 30 September 2023, the Group has unabsorbed tax losses and temporary difference of approximately
$11,751,000 (2022 : $10,207,000) that have not been recognised as deferred tax assets.

The unabsorbed tax losses are allowed to be carried forward and used to offset against future taxable profits
of subsidiaries in which the items arose, subject to agreement by the relevant tax authorities and compliance
with the applicable tax regulations in Singapore.

After reporting period ended 30 September 2023, there was a substantial change in the shareholding of the

Company which resulted the percentage of common shareholder fall below 50%. The Group will be applying a
waiver of the shareholding test with the relevant tax authorities.
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LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Group

2023 2022

$'000 $'000
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 5,106 6,456
Allowance for inventory obsolescence, net 83 13
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 493 493
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,372 1,363
Amortisation of intangible assets 97 94
Rental expense on leases 143 111
Audit fees:

- paid to auditors of the Company 112 109
Non-audit fees 31 27
Aggregate amount of fees paid to auditors 143 136
Directors' remuneration:

- of the Company 712 705

- of the subsidiary 148 138
Total directors’ remuneration 860 843
Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remuneration)

Defined contribution plans 220 263
Salaries and related expenses 4,287 4,253
Total employee benefits expense 4,507 4,516

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Loss
Loss attributable to owners of the Company 2,341 2,127
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
loss per share 112,000 112,000

There were no dilutive equity instruments for 2023 and 2022.
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27 CAPITAL RESERVES

Group
Deemed
Acquisition capital
deficit™® contribution® Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
At beginning and end of the year (73) 350 277

The capital reserves represent:

(1) acquisition deficit arising from the changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that did not result in
change of control; and

(2) deemed capital contribution from former shareholders of Gliderol International (ME) FZE.

28 DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend any dividend for the financial year ended 30 September 2023.

29 GUARANTEES

Guarantees arising from investment in a subsidiary are as follows:

Company
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Guarantees given to a financial institution granted to
a subsidiary 102 102
Guarantees given to a bank in respect of banking facilities
granted to a subsidiary:
- Utilised 886 1,015
- Unutilised 2,339 2,210
3,225 3,225

30 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

At 30 September 2023, the Group is committed to $99,000 (2022 : $242,000) for leases.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
By business segment

The Group operates and manages its business primarily as a single operating segment in the manufacture,
supply of doors and shutter systems, supply of production components products and provision of service
and maintenance works. As such, no operating segmental revenue has been prepared. The Group's chief
operating decision maker reviews the consolidated results prepared based on the Group’s accounting policies
when making decisions, including the allocation of resources and assessment of performance of the Group.

By geographical segment
The Group operates mainly in the geographical areas of Singapore, Europe, Asia Pacific, North America,

Middle East and East Asia. The Group's revenue from external customers and information about its segment
assets (non-current assets) by geographical locations are detailed below:

Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Revenue from external customers
(based on location of products delivered)
Singapore 7,080 5,358
Europe® 3,368 5,568
Asia Pacific@ 1,404 2,300
North America® 306 357
Middle East® 45 54
East Asia® - 27
12,203 13,664
(1) Europe includes major countries like France, Germany, Italy, Norway and United Kingdom.
(2)  Asia Pacific includes Australia, Brunei, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam.
(3) North America include United States of America.
(4)  Middle East includes Qatar and United Arab Emirates.
(5)  East Asia includes China, Hong Kong and Macau.
Group
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Non-current assets
(based on location of assets)
Singapore 9,218 10,854
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32 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Following the completion of the Shareholder Placement and taking into consideration the disposal of
15,500,000 Shares in the Company by D'Oasis Pte. Ltd as announced on 11 October 2023, D'Oasis Pte. Ltd
directly holds 16,500,000 of ordinary shares representing approximately 14.73% of the issued and paid-up
share capital of the Company.

33 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SFRS(l)s pronouncements relevant to
the Group and Company were issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

° Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of liabilities as Current or
Non-current

° Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies
° Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-8: Definition of Accounting Estimates
° Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

° Amendments to SFRS(1) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
° Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
° Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above SFRS(l)s, SFRS(l) INTs and amendments to SFRS(I) in
future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
in the period of their initial adoption.
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Issued and fully paid-up capital
Number of shares issued

Class of shares

Voting rights

Number of treasury shares
Number of subsidary holding

*%

$$5,480,000%*
112,000,000 shares
Ordinary shares
One vote per share
Nil

Nil

Statistics of
Shareholdings

As of 5 December 2023

This is based on records kept with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA") and differs from the

accounting records of the Company which is $5,244,520 due to certain share issue expenses.

Analysis of Shareholders

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF
SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %
1-99 0 0.00 0 0.00
100 - 1,000 126 48.09 121,400 0.11
1,001 - 10,000 48 18.32 203,600 0.18
10,001 - 1,000,000 72 27.48 12,118,200 10.82
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 16 6.11 99,556,800 88.89
TOTAL 262 100.00 112,000,000 100.00
TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %
1 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 18,789,700 16.78
2 DOASIS PTE LTD 16,500,000 14.73
3 TANG HEE SUNG 15,500,000 13.84
4 LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,500,000 7.59
5 HAN MING KWANG 5,000,000 4.46
6  OHBENG HWA 5,000,000 4.46
7 WONG LYE YI STACEY 5,000,000 4.46
8  CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 4,785,000 4.27
9 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 3,706,000 3.31
10 CHAN HIANG NGEE 3,703,300 3.31
11 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 3,000,000 2.68
12 TAN HONG CHEE 3,000,000 2.68
13 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 2,109,800 1.88
14 BOON SIEW HOCK 2,000,000 1.79
15 THORSHIN YI 1,500,000 1.34
16 LIM TECK CHUAN 1,463,000 1.31
17 GOH YEO HWA 1,000,000 0.89
18 ROLLES RUDOLF JURGEN AUGUST 800,000 0.71
19 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 687,600 0.61
20 EUNICE TENG KAI LING 600,000 0.54
TOTAL 102,644,400 91.64
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholdings in which the
Shareholdings registered in the Substantial Sharesholders are

Name of Substantial Shareholder Name of Substantial Shareholder deemed to be interested

No. of Shares % No. of Shares %
D'Oasis Pte. Ltd. 16,500,000 14.73 - -
Michael Wong Lok Yung - - 16,500,000 14.73
Tang Hee Sung 15,500,000 13.84 - -
Note:

(1) Mr Michael Wong Lok Yung owns 90 ordinary shares representing 90.0% of the issued share capital of D'Oasis Pte. Ltd.
Accordingly, Mr Michael Wong Lok Yung is deemed to be interested in all the shares in the Company held by D'Oasis Pte. Ltd.

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC HANDS

Based on the information provided, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the substantial shareholder of the
Company, 70.98% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company is held in the hands of the public as at 5 December
2023. Accordingly, Rule 723 of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited Listing Manual Section B:Rules of
Catalist has been complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM") of GDS GLOBAL LIMITED (the “Company”) will
be held at 86 International Road, Singapore 629176 on Friday, 19 January 2024 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following
business:

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended
30 September 2023 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)
2. To approve the sum of S$200,000/- as Directors' fees for the financial year ending 30 September 2024 and the
payment thereof on a half yearly basis. (Resolution 2)
3. To re-elect Mr Michael Wong Lok Yung, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Regulation 114 of the
Company's Constitution, as Director of the Company. (Resolution 3)
4, To re-elect Mr Tang Hee Sung, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Regulation 118 of the Company's
Constitution, as Director of the Company. (Resolution 4)
5. To re-elect Ms Lee Pei Fang, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Regulation 118 of the Company's
Constitution, as Director of the Company. (Resolution 5)
6. To re-elect Mr Aw Eng Hai, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Regulation 118 of the Company's
Constitution, as Director of the Company.
[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 6)
7. To re-elect Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Regulation 118 of the
Company's Constitution, as Director of the Company.
[See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 7)
8. To re-elect Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Regulation 118 of the
Company's Constitution, as Director of the Company.
[See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 8)
9. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration. (Resolution 9)

10.  To transact any other business that may be transacted at an AGM.

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or without modifications:

11.  Authority to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company
That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Rule 806 of the Catalist Rules
and the Constitution of the Company, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to (i) issue shares
whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively,

“Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and
issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, at any
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time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may
in their absolute discretion deem fit; and (iii) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this resolution may
have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors
while this resolution was in force, provided that:

(a) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made
or granted pursuant to this resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this resolution shall
not exceed 100% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary
holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below),
of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued (including shares to be issued pursuant to
the Instruments) other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed 50% of the
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below);

(b) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST") for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be
issued pursuant to the Instruments) that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, the percentage
of shares that may be issued shall be based on the total number of issued shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) at the time of the passing of this Resolution,
after adjusting for (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any
convertible securities; (ii) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards,
provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIl of Chapter 8 of the Catalist
Rules; and (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of shares. Adjustments in
accordance with sub-paragraphs (b)(i) and (b)(ii) above are only to be made in respect of new shares
arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued and outstanding
or subsisting at the time of the passing of this resolution;

(0) in exercising such authority, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Catalist Rules for
the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal
requirements under the Act and the Constitution for the time being of the Company; and

(d) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force
until (i) the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company; or (ii) the date by which the next AGM of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (iv)] (Resolution 10)

By Order of the Board

Low Mei Mei, Maureen
Chiang Wai Ming
Joint Company Secretaries

Singapore, 4 January 2024
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Explanatory Notes:

i. Mr Aw Eng Hai, if re-elected, will remain as the Lead Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Committee. The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the
Company considers Mr Aw Eng Hai to be independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

Detailed information of Mr Aw Eng Hai (including information as set out in Appendix 7F of the Catalist Rules) can be found
under “Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” of this annual report.

ii. Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard if re-elected, will remain as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Nominating
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. The Board of the Company considers Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard to be
independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

Detailed information of Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard (including information as set out in Appendix 7F of the Catalist Rules)
can be found under “Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” of this annual report.

iii. Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng, if re-elected, will remain as a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nominating Committee. The Board of the Company considers Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng to be independent for the purposes
of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

Detailed information of Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng (including information as set out in Appendix 7F of the Catalist Rules) can be
found under “Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” of this annual report.

iv.  Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of this AGM until the date of the next AGM,
to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding one hundred percent
(100%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), of which the total number
of shares issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company, shall not exceed fifty percent (50%)
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holding). This authority will, unless previously
revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the next AGM of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

Notes:

1. The members of the Company are invited to attend physically at the AGM. There will be no option for shareholders
to participate virtually. The Notice of AGM, Proxy Form, Request Form (to request for printed copy of the Annual
Report) and Annual Report will be available to members by electronic means via publication on the Company's website at
https://www.gdsglobal.com.sg and on the SGXNet at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. Printed
copies of the Notice, Proxy Form and Request Form will also be sent by post to members. Members who wish to receive a
printed copy of the Annual Report are required to complete the Request Form and return it to the Company by 12 January
2024.

2. Members (including Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme members (“CPF Investors”) and/or Supplementary
Retirement Scheme investors (“SRS Investors”)) may participate in the AGM by:

(a) attending the AGM in person;
(b)  raising questions at the AGM or submitting questions in advance of the AGM; and/ or
(c voting at the AGM

(i) themselves personally; or

(i) through their duly appointed proxy(ies).

—

CPF Investors and SRS Investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM (and not third-party proxy(ies)) as proxy
should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 10.00 a.m. on 10 January 2024,
being seven (7) working days prior to the date of the AGM.

Please bring along your NRIC/passport so as to enable the Company to verify your identity. Members are requested to arrive
early to facilitate the registration process.

3. A member who is not a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and
vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. A member of the Company which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised
representative or proxy to vote on its behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Where such member appoints two (2) proxies, the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy shall be
specified. If no proportion is specified, the Company shall be entitled to treat the first named proxy as representing the entire
number of shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and any second named proxy as an alternate to the
first named.
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4, A member who is a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the
AGM, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such member.
Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has
been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181(6) of the Act.

(@) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970, or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

(b) a person holding a capital market services license to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and
Futures Act 2001 and who holds shares in that capacity; or

() the Central Provident Fund (“CPF") Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the
contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the CPF, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity
of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with the subsidiary legislation.

5. A member can appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy but this is not mandatory.

If @ member wishes to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, such member (whether individual or corporate) must
give specific instructions as to voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on, each resolution in the instrument
appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy. If no specific direction as to voting or abstentions from voting in respect of a
resolution in the form of proxy, the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will be treated as
invalid.

6. The Proxy Form must be submitted to in the following manner:

(a) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte. Ltd. at srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com; or

(b) if submitted by post, be lodged at the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.,
1 Harbourfront Avenue, Keppel Bay Tower #14-07, Singapore 098632

in either case, by 16 January 2024, 10.00 a.m., being no later than seventy-two (72) hours before the time fixed for the AGM.
A member who wishes to submit a Proxy Form must complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the
address provided above, or before sending it by email to the email address provided above.

The instrument appointing a proxy(ies) must be signed by the appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common
seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or a duly authorised officer of the corporation. Where the instrument appointing
a proxy(ies) is signed on behalf of the appointer by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing
which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument of proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where
the true intentions of the appointer are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified in the instrument
of proxy (such as in the case where the appointer submits more than one (1) instrument of proxy).

In the case of a member whose shares are entered against his/her name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section
81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore Statutes), the Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if
such member, being the appointer, is not shown to have any shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register
as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time set for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to
the Company.

7. Members may raise questions at the AGM or submit questions related to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the
AGM, in advance of the AGM. For members who would like to submit questions in advance of the AGM, they may do so by
10 January 2024, 5.00 p.m.:

(@) by email to srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com or;

(b) by post to the registered office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.,
1 Harbourfront Avenue, Keppel Bay Tower #14-07, Singapore 098632

Members submitting questions are requested to state: (a) their full name; and (b) the member’s identification/ registration
number, failing which the Company shall be entitled to regard the submission as invalid. The Company will publish its
responses to the substantial and relevant questions submitted by members prior to the abovementioned deadline by
14 January 2024, 10.00 a.m. which is at least 48 hours before the proxy form dateline.
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8. For questions received after 10 January 2024, 5.00 p.m., the Company will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant
questions submitted by members prior to or during the AGM. Where substantially similar questions are received, the
Company will consolidate such questions and consequently not all questions may be individually addressed. The Company
will publish the responses to such questions together with the minutes of the AGM on SGXNet and the Company’s website at
https://www.gdsglobal.com.sg/investor-ir-home.html within one (1) month after the date of the AGM.

9. Members are reminded to check SGXNet for any latest updates on the status of the AGM.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and
vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of
the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company
(or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation
and compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment
thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines
(collectively, the “Purposes”); (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/
or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/
or representative(s) for the Purposes; and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties,
liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.

This notice has been reviewed by the Company’s Sponsor, SAC Capital Private Limited (the “Sponsor”). This notice has not been examined
or approved by SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the contents of this notice, including the correctness of any of the
statements or opinions made, or reports contained in this notice.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms Audrey Mok (Tel: (65) 6232 3210) at 1 Robinson Road, #21-00 AIA Tower, Singapore 048542.
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GDS GLOBAL LIMITED IMPORTANT:

i i i 1. Arelevant intermediary may appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend the AGM
(Incorporated _In th_e Repu.bllc of Slngapore) and vote (please see Note 3 for the definition of “Relevant Intermediary”).
Company Reg|5trat|on No: 201217895H 2. An investor who holds shares under the Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme

(“CPF Investor”) and/or the Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investor”) (as
may be applicable) may attend and cast his vote(s) at the AGM in person. CPF and
SRS Investors who are unable to attend the AGM but would like to vote, may inform
their CPF and/or SRS Approved Nominees to appoint the Chairman of the AGM to act
as their proxy, in which case, the CPF Investors and SRS Investors shall be precluded
from attending the AGM.

3. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by SRS Investors and shall be ineffective for all

PROXY FORM intents anyd purposes if used or purpor¥ed to be used by them.

*|/We NRIC/Passport/Co. Registration No.

of (Address)
being *a member/members of GDS GLOBAL LIMITED hereby appoint

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares (%)

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares (%)

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons referred to above, the Chairman of the Annual General
Meeting (“AGM") as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend, speak or vote on *my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company
to be held at 86 International Road, Singapore 629176, on Friday, 19 January 2024 at 10.00 a.m. and at any
adjournment thereof.

*|/We have directed *my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as
indicated hereunder. If no specific directions as to voting are given, the *proxy/proxies may vote or abstain from
voting at *his/their discretion, as *he/they will on any other matters arising at the AGM and/or at any adjournment
thereof.

Voting would be conducted by poll. Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [V] within the box
provided.

No. | Resolutions Relating To: | For | Against | Abstain
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 Adoption of Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for
the financial year ended 30 September 2023

2 Approval of Directors' fees for the financial year ending 30 September
2024

Re-election of Mr Michael Wong Lok Yung

Re-election of Mr Tang Hee Sung

Re-election of Ms Lee Pei Fang

Re-election of Mr Aw Eng Hai

Re-election of Mr Cheam Heng Haw, Howard

Re-election of Ms Doreen Yew Lai Leng

Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

O (N[t~ Ww

10 | Authority to issue new shares

*Delete where applicable

Dated this day of 2024

Total Number of Shares Held

Signature(s) of Member(s) or
Common Seal of Corporate Member

IMPORTANT
PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF



Notes:

1.

Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001), you should insert that number of Shares. If you
have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares
entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you
should insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your
name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to
relate to all the shares held by you.

A member who is not a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and
vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. A member of the Company which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised
representative or proxy to vote on its behalf.

Where such member appoints two (2) proxies, the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy shall be
specified. If no proportion is specified, the Company shall be entitled to treat the first named proxy as representing the entire
number of shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and any second named proxy as an alternate to the
first named.

For any member who acts as a Relevant Intermediary pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967, who is either:

a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970, or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide under the Securities and Futures Act 2001 and who holds
shares in that capacity; and

C) Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the
contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the CPF, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity
of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with the subsidiary legislation.

A member who is a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the
AGM but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such member.
Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has
been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy.

The proxy need not be a member of the Company. Please note that if any of your shareholdings are not specified in the list
provided by the intermediary to the Company, the Company may have the sole discretion to disallow the said participation of
the said proxy at the forthcoming AGM.

A member can appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy but this is not mandatory.

The Proxy Form must be submitted to in the following manner:

(a) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company's Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte. Ltd. at srs.teamd@boardroomlimited.com; or

(b)  if submitted by post, be lodged at the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.,
1 Harbourfront Avenue, Keppel Bay Tower #14-07, Singapore 098632

in either case, by 16 January 2024, 10.00 a.m., being no later than seventy-two (72) hours before the time fixed for the AGM.
A member who wishes to submit a Proxy Form must complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the
address provided above, or before sending it by email to the email address provided above.

Completion and return of the Proxy Form by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and voting at
the AGM if he/she so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the AGM will be deemed to be revoked if the member
attends the AGM in person and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons
appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a proxy(ies) to the AGM.

The Proxy Form must be signed by the appointer or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form
is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly
authorised. Where the Proxy Form is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointer, the letter or power of attorney or
a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as
invalid.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject this instrument of proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the
true intentions of the appointer are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified in this instrument of proxy.
In addition, in the case of members whose shares are entered in the Depository Register, the Company shall be entitled to reject
any instrument of proxy lodged if the member, being the appointer, is not shown to have any shares entered against his name in
the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time set for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited
to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data
privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM dated 4 January 2024.
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